ILLUMINATION: Insights and Perspectives for Building Effective Watershed Governance in B.C.

Oliver M. Brandes & Tim Morris with Jennifer Archer, Laura Brandes, Michele-Lee Moore, Jon O'Riordan, and Natasha Overduin



POLIS Project on Ecological Governance

ILLUMINATION: Insights and Perspectives for Building Effective Watershed Governance in B.C.

Oliver M. Brandes & Tim Morris with Jennifer Archer, Laura Brandes, Michele-Lee Moore, Jon O'Riordan, and Natasha Overduin

JUNE 2016



POLIS Project on Ecological Governance Suggested Citation: Brandes, O.M., & Morris, T. with Archer, J.L., Brandes, L., Moore, M.L., O'Riordan, J., Overduin, N. (2016, June). Illumination: Insights and Perspectives for Building Effective Watershed Governance in B.C. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria.

© 2016 POLIS Project on Ecological Governance. All rights reserved.

POLIS Project on Ecological Governance

Centre for Global Studies, University of Victoria PO Box 1700 STN CSC Victoria, BC V8W 2Y2 Canada Tel: 250.721.8800 Email: water@polisproject.org polisproject.org | poliswaterproject.org

LIBRARY AND ARCHIVES CANADA CATALOGUING IN PUBLICATION

Brandes, Oliver M., 1972-, author

Illumination : insights and perspectives for building effective watershed governance in British Columbia / Oliver M. Brandes and Tim Morris with Jennifer Archer, Laura Brandes, Michele-Lee Moore, Jon O'Riordan, Natasha Overduin. Includes bibliographical references. Issued in print and electronic formats.

ISBN 978-1-55058-569-8 (paperback)

ISBN 978-1-55058-568-1 (pdf)

1. Watershed management—British Columbia—Decision making. 2. Watershed management—British Columbia—Citizen participation.

I. O'Riordan, Jon, author II. Brandes, Laura, author III. Archer, Jennifer, 1970–, author IV. Moore, Michele-Lee, 1977–, author V. Morris, Tim, 1979–, author VI. Overduin, Natasha, 1990–, author VII. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, issuing body VIII. Title.

TC426.5.B74B738 2015 333.91009711 C2015-907088-0 C2015-907103-8

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Megan Spencer, Research and Communications Assistant at the POLIS Water Sustainability Project for her work copy-editing this report. Special acknowledgement should also be given to research team member Laura Brandes for her role reviewing and editing early iterations of the report. Thank you to all our reviewers for strengthening this report with their thoughtful comments and insights. Arifin Graham of Alaris Design provided the creative spark for the layout and design of the report. Thank you also to designer Marci Janecek, and Sam Bradd, graphic facilitator and illustrator, for their work in creating many of the visuals found throughout this report.

The POLIS Project would also like to acknowledge its core supporters: The University of Victoria's Centre for Global Studies and Eco-Research Chair in Environmental Law and Policy, the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, and the Real Estate Foundation of British Columbia.



PHOTOGRAPHS: iStock (front cover); Natasha Overduin, p. x (all), p. 3 (2nd, 4th), p. 7 (1st, 2nd), p. 18 (5th from top); Kicking Horse Paddle Festival, p. 3 (1st); Tourism Golden Association, p. 3 (3rd); Darryl Dyck, Canadian Press (p. 18, 3rd); Town of Duncan (p. 18, 4th); University of Salford (6th). DESIGN: Arifin Graham, Alaris Design

TABLE OF CONTENTS

About the Research Team v

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY vi

1. INTRODUCTION 1

2. WHY THIS STUDY? WHY NOW? 4

2.1 AWAKENING TO OUR NEW WATER REALITY 4 A Provincial Policy Opportunity 5 Building Momentum for Watershed Governance 6

3. METHODS FOR FINDING OUT WHAT THE FRESHWATER COMMUNITY IS THINKING 8

- 1) Interviews with Key Informants 8
- 2) First Nations' Roundtable 9
- 3) Electronic Survey 9

4. FINDINGS & INSIGHTS 11

4.1 THE CURRENT STATE OF WATERSHED GOVERNANCE IN B.C. 12

Making Decisions in the Dark12Insights on Failures of the Current System12Getting Out of the Dark: How Do We Turn on the Light?15Section Summary16

4.2 WHAT SHOULD WATERSHED GOVERNANCE LOOK LIKE? 17

Who Needs to be Involved?17Who Has Authority?22What's the Best Scale?25Section Summary26

4.3 BUILDING CAPACITY TO MOVE FORWARD 27

Significant Appetite to be Involved in Watershed Governance 27 Challenges to Achieving Watershed Governance in B.C. 28 Conditions for Enabling Watershed Governance 28 Capacity Needs & Priorities 31 Section Summary 32

4.4 DOES B.C. NEED A WATERSHED GOVERNANCE HUB? 33

General Support for a Province-wide Capacity-builder 33 What Would a Capacity-Building Organization Do? 34 Insights on Organizational Structure 36 What are the Potential Benefits and Challenges? 37 Section Summary 40

5. CONCLUSIONS & NEXT STEPS 41

1) Appetite Exists for New Approaches to Watershed Governance 41

2) Collaborative Approaches are seen as Critical for Better Decision-making 41

3) There are Multiple Stages to Collaborative Watershed Governance 42

- 4) The Provision of Key Capacities and Tools will Increase the Likelihood of Success 43
- 5) A Potential Role has Emerged for a Province-wide Capacity-builder 44

Appendix 1: Timeline of Key Watershed Governance Research and Events in B.C. 45

Appendix 2: Tools and Services to Build Capacity for Watershed Governance in B.C. 47

Appendix 3: Detailed Research Methodology 50

List of Boxes

- Box 1: What is Watershed Governance? 2
- Box 2: Key Elements of the Water Sustainability Act 7
- Box 3: What is a Watershed Entity? 17
- Box 4: Perspectives on Key Players in Collaborative Watershed Governance 18
- Box 5: Challenges to Achieving Watershed Governance in B.C. 28
- Box 6: Possible Functions and Services for a Province-wide Capacity-building Organization Identified by Informants 35

List of Figures

Figure 1: Water issues across B.C. 5

- Figure 2: Selected recent public opinion research on fresh water 6
- Figure 3: First Nations Roundtable Discussion
- Figure 4: Survey Participation by Affiliation 10
- Figure 5: Perspectives on current management approaches 12
- Figure 6: How well is B.C.'s fresh water currently being managed to ensure its protection? 13 Figure 7: More provincial government involvement and resources needed 14
- Figure 8: Local watershed entities needed 16
- Figure 9: Improved monitoring and reporting on water is very necessary 16
- Figure 10: Agreement that more local input into decision-making is needed 19
- Figure 11: Disagreement around whether more industry input into government decision-making is needed 21
- Figure 12: Perspectives on a delegated decision-making framework 22
- Figure 13: Industry perspectives on a delegated decision-making framework 24
- Figure 14: Significant appetite to be engaged in watershed governance 27
- Figure 15: Confirming "winning conditions for effective watershed governance" established in previous research 29
- Figure 16: Exploring tools and services to support engagement in watershed governance 30 Figure 17: Additional priority tools and services to build capacity for watershed governance 32
- Figure 18: Support for a province-wide capacity-building organization 33
- Figure 19: Potential roles for a province-wide capacity-building organization 34
- Figure 20: Leadership and structure of a province-wide organization 35
- Figure 21: Should a province-wide capacity-building organization potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities? 37
- Figure 22: Stepping stones approach to watershed governance 43 Figure 23: Tools & Resources 49
- Figure 24: Survey Participation by Affiliation 54

ABOUT THE RESEARCH TEAM



OLIVER M. BRANDES PROJECT LEAD & PRIMARY AUTHOR Oliver M. Brandes is an economist and lawyer by training and a trans-disciplinarian by design. He serves as co-director of the POLIS Project on Ecological Governance at the University of Victoria's Centre for Global Studies and leads the POLIS

Water Sustainability Project, where his work focuses on water sustainability, sound resource management, public policy development, and ecologically based legal and institutional reform.



TIM MORRIS STRATEGIC ANALYST & CO-LEAD AUTHOR Tim Morris is a consultant specializing in strategic and policy advice related to freshwater protection. Tim works with decision makers, non-profit organizations and foundations across Canada bringing more than a decade of experience protecting

Canada's rivers and lakes as an academic, advocate and grant-maker. Tim has a Master of Laws focused on water law and policy from the University of British Columbia.



JENNIFER L. ARCHER INTERVIEW & ROUNDTABLE LEAD Jennifer Archer is a consultant providing strategic advice on watershed governance and freshwater protection in British Columbia. A former Law Clerk to the B.C. Court of Appeal, Jennifer practiced law as a contracts lawyer and negotiator in the corporate and

non-profit sectors for more than ten years before turning her attention to water issues.



LAURA BRANDES PROJECT MANAGEMENT & E-SURVEY LEAD

Laura Brandes is the Communications Director at the University of Victoria's POLIS Water Sustainability Project. Bringing her expertise as a writer, editor, and science communicator, her work focuses on

disseminating new policy research and effectively engaging communities, governments, and practitioners on water conservation and policy issues.



ANGUS MCALLISTER OPINION RESEARCH ADVISOR Angus McAllister is President of McAllister Opinion Research. In the past decade, McAllister Opinion Research has interviewed over 350,000 thought leaders and citizens in over a dozen nations. Prior to founding McAllister in 2001, Angus served as

Vice President of Global Research with Ipsos-Reid, and prior to that was Vice President with Environics International in Toronto. He is a qualified member of ESOMAR, the international professional body for opinion and market research.



MICHELE-LEE MOORE ACADEMIC/METHODOLOGIES/ GOVERNANCE INNOVATION ADVISOR

Dr. Michele-Lee Moore is an Assistant Professor in the University of Victoria's Department of Geography and leads the Water, Innovation, and Global Governance Lab (WIGG Lab) based in the Centre for

Global Studies. Her research focuses on global and local water governance, networks, social innovation, and resilience. Her current research program is examining how innovation in water governance is generated, supported, adopted, or institutionalized by Canada's water-related activities at the global level.



JON O'RIORDAN STRATEGIC POLICY ADVISOR Dr. Jon O'Riordan is a former Deputy Minister of the British Columbia Ministry of Sustainable Resource Management. He has been an Adjunct Professor in water governance and sustainability at UBC and a Research Associate with The POLIS Project

on Ecological Governance for the past 10 years. He is also Senior Policy Advisor to the Adaptation to Climate Change Team (ACT) at Simon Fraser University.



NATASHA OVERDUIN RESEARCH & EDITORIAL SUPPORT Natasha Overduin is the Watershed Governance Project Manager and Research Associate at the POLIS Water Sustainability Project. Natasha's work in 2015/2016 is focused primarily on supporting capacity-building for watershed governance in B.C. through

regional workshops. In September 2015, Natasha completed her MA at the Water, Innovation and Global Governance Lab (Department of Geography), University of Victoria.

Executive Summary

n British Columbia, addressing freshwater challenges is a critical economic, social and ecological priority. The historic drought of 2015 depleted reservoirs, dried up streams, and resulted in severe water use restrictions in many regions of the province. Along with more frequent and costly floods, these types of extreme events are becoming *more* extreme *and* more common. At the same time, competition for access to our most precious resource is rapidly increasing, driving conflict and public concern.

As B.C. awakens to its new water reality, the link between sustainable management and how decisions are made—*governance*—is gaining public attention. Growing recognition exists that current decision-making processes are not working, and that ensuring clean, flowing fresh water today and for the future requires a bold shift towards new forms of governance at the watershed scale.



Percentage of British Columbians Who Agree Fresh Water is "Our Most Precious Resource"

INFOGRAPHICS BY MARCI JANECEK







WHY THIS STUDY? WHY NOW?

The potential for a significant governance shift is reflected in elements of the new provincial *Water Sustainability Act* (*WSA* or the *Act*), which not only strengthens rules to protect water for nature, but also enables alternative forms of local watershed governance. A genuine window of opportunity exists to kick-start a world-class governance regime in British Columbia.

Recent reports and events exploring the concept of watershed governance have laid a foundation for reform in British Columbia. However, considerable knowledge gaps still exist in turning concept into practice. Through an extensive investigation involving interviews, surveys, and a First Nations roundtable, this study illuminates the practical needs and capacities required to implement watershed governance in B.C. At its core, the study provides critical insights into the question: *What is needed NOW to make watershed governance work in British Columbia?*

RESEARCH APPROACH

The mulit-disciplinary research team took a three-tier approach to gather perspectives from across B.C., and to reflect a wide range of insights from various water sectors and interests. Those contributing insights to this research include federal, provincial, First Nations, and local governments; professional water managers; the private sector; experts and researchers; and stewardship and other non-governmental actors working at various levels across the province. The information and insights for this project was collected through:

- 1) Eight interviews with expert informants
- 2) A First Nations Roundtable
- **3)** An electronic survey completed by 439 participants across the freshwater community from around the province

KEY FINDINGS AND CRITICAL INSIGHTS

#1 The current system is not working ...

SUBSTANTIAL APPETITE EXISTS FOR A CONCERTED MOVE TOWARDS WATERSHED GOVERNANCE

Study respondents expressed widespread dissatisfaction with current approaches to water management and governance, specifically noting that existing approaches are poorly suited to modern day needs and growing water pressures.

- First Nations express a concern of being excluded from the current governance system.
- The Province is seen to be retreating from its role in safeguarding aquatic ecosystems and providing effective and balanced decisions.
- Communities feel ill prepared to respond to serious threats to their local watersheds.

The study revealed that a large proportion of respondents would like to be actively engaged in watershed governance. Many are prepared to take on leadership roles, and others seek opportunities to provide input to local watershed decisions, or wish to be engaged in a province-wide dialogue on how best to enable watershed governance.



How well is B.C.'s fresh water currently being managed to ensure its protection? "Based on what you know, how well is fresh water currently being managed to ensure its protection in B.C.?"





Percentage of survey repondents who agree that local watershed entities are needed to ensure B.C.'s *Water Sustainability Act* is implemented to its fullest potential

"We are not going to change the way we have been doing business, unless it's in a collaborative approach."

> INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

#2 Collaborative watershed governance is the future ...

COLLABORATIVE APPROACHES ARE SEEN AS CRITICAL FOR BETTER DECISION MAKING

A clear consensus exists among study participants that watershed governance needs to be undertaken more collaboratively than the current system. Collaboration is seen as providing many benefits, including opportunities to share knowledge, leverage local capacities, and expand access to resources human and financial. It is also viewed as a critical platform for developing trust and support for co-governance arrangements between First Nations, the Province and local communities.

Recognition of Indigenous Rights & Co-Governance with First Nations

Adequate Resources
 & Provincial Oversign
 Full Implementation

of the Water

Sustainability Act

Collaboration with Communities, Local Interests & Stakeholders

The research findings deepen the collective understanding of what

watershed governance could look like in B.C.

and explore four key themes based on the input received from respondents ...

Stepping Stones of Watershed Governance



#3 In practice, watershed governance happens one step at a time ...

MULTIPLE STAGES TO COLLABORATIVE WATERSHED GOVERNANCE EXISTS

A key insight revealed by the study participants is that watershed governance is not a static process and no *one-size-fits-all* model exists. Watershed governance can take many forms ranging from informal collaboration around specific projects to enhance watershed health, to community-based visioning and planning. Over time, it may evolve into more formal entities or bodies capable of taking on significant planning and delegated decision-making authority as enabled in the new *Water Sustainability Act*.

#4 Numerous capacity gaps revealed …

COMMUNITIES SEEKING HELP AND SUPPORT TO IMPLEMENT COLLABORATIVE WATERSHED GOVERNANCE

The study highlights key capacity gaps that will need to be addressed if B.C. is to fully harness the energy and enthusiasm for watershed governance and establish the conditions required for lasting success.

Respondents affirmed key conditions required to enable effective watershed governance, including an emphasis on:

- fully implementing the Water Sustainability Act
- the need for sustainable funding; and,
- new mechanisms for effective co-governance

#5 A catalyst is needed to spark action ...

A POTENTIAL ROLE HAS EMERGED FOR A PROVINCE-WIDE CAPACITY BUILDER

The study reveals support for a province-wide *Capacity Builder* organization that could catalyze local watershed governance initiatives, help address capacity needs and strengthen existing collaborative efforts. Potential functions for such a *Capacity Builder* include:

- Hosting a central repository of information and best practices to support local initiatives
- Fostering a community of practice related to watershed governance and management
- ✓ Sharing success stories and leveraging funding
- ✓ Providing technical, legal and watershed planning support
- Assisting communities in identifying watershed governance options and opportunities
- **Convening and coordinating** learning networks and events
- Acting as a champion to advance a better balance between freshwater protection and sustainable resource development



Support for a province-wide capacity-building organization: "Do you see value in a province-wide organization that could serve as a central capacity builder to promote, encourage and/or support watershed governance across B.C.?"



CONDITIONS TO ENABLE WATERSHED GOVERNANCE

- Clear roles & responsibilities
 in delegated authority
- A commitment to cogovernance with First Nations and effective government-to-government relationships
- Partnerships with local government
- Sustainable funding
- Legislative framework that protects ecological values
- Peer-to-peer learning
- Independent oversight & public reporting
- Monitoring, data availability & cumulative impact assessment
- Engaged & educated citizenry
- Meaningful watershed
 planning
- Courageous leadership

"...I don's see them as a provincial arm, so much as a guidance group – a place to go to ask questions and see what's going on in the rest of the province ..."

> INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

Respondents indicated that such a *Capacity Builder* should be enabled and given a mandate by the Province, but should be arms-length from government once established. First Nations participation and leadership in the entity were seen as critical for success. Important cautions also emerged from the research. In particular, ensuring that such a body does not create another layer of decision-making at the provincial scale, or undermine government-to-government dialogue between First Nations and the Province.

NEXT STEPS: UPCOMING OPTIONS PAPER

Building on this study, the research team is now developing an *Enabling Watershed Governance*' Options Paper. To be shared in 2016, this paper will identify a range of specific institutional and operational options—including a province-wide *Capacity Builder*—to address capacity gaps and develop new tools and resources for real progress on the ground.

B.C. has a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to make the shift to a truly world-class watershed governance regime. It is our hope that this study and the upcoming options paper will chart a path towards meaningful, practical actions that will accelerate this shift and capitalize on this important window of opportunity.



1. Introduction

ver the past few decades, fresh water issues have emerged as a major concern globally. Even in so-called water-rich regions, such as British Columbia, addressing water issues is becoming an increasing economic, social, and ecological priority.

In the summer of 2015, British Columbia faced severe drought conditions, evidenced by shrinking reservoirs, wildfires, water-use restrictions, and streams and aquifers running dry. Events like these—which are becoming ever more frequent with the changing climate—have increased public awareness of the importance of the decisions made around fresh water in the province. At the same time, a fundamental shift in the relationship between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in the context of resource management is underway, and mounting demands for community engagement and local control have illuminated serious flaws in the existing system of decision-making concerning water and watersheds in B.C.

These increasing pressures and drivers for change have resulted in calls for new forms of watershed governance that respond to both the needs of the watersheds and the communities that live within them. Importantly, the B.C. government has recognized this priority and recently passed the new *Water Sustainability Act* (*WSA* or the *Act*), the first significant reform to British Columbia's water laws in over 100 years. The *Act* has provisions that recognize the potential of new forms of governance and creates an enabling framework to support their development. The details of these provisions will be addressed during a regulatory development phase over coming years, which represents a critical opportunity to kick-start a truly modern and world-class water governance regime in the province.¹

In order to capitalize on this growing momentum for watershed governance, additional capacity and understanding around the concept and its application will be needed. This report summarizes an extensive investigation of the current knowledge and capacity related to watershed governance in British Columbia. Undertaken over almost a one year period commencing in December 2014, this research deepens our collective understanding of the elements needed to strengthen watershed governance in B.C. and explores the real challenges facing the sectors and individuals affected by local water-based decisions. The critical parties include local government, First Nations, and the provincial government, and sectors such as stewardship groups, the business community, and water professionals.

In particular, the study enhances our understanding of the tools, resources, and support networks needed to advance watershed governance in the province. This report explicitly builds on ongoing work at the University of Victoria's POLIS Water Sustainability Project. It extends the learnings and insights developed in the 2013 report *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia*² and at the *Watersheds 2014* solutions forum.¹

As a follow-up to this current study, a complementing policy options paper will be released in 2016, providing specific options and recommendations on building capacity for watershed governance throughout B.C., and the best approaches to operationalizing this approach to governance. The broader intention is that findings from these two research reports will engage and inspire a suite of water leaders to champion the legal and institutional reforms that will be required to create a robust and innovative watershed governance system for British Columbia.

BOX 1: WHAT IS WATERSHED GOVERNANCE?

Governance is the process of decision-making and holding those decision-makers to account, primarily focused on the *ends* and "doing the right thing, the right way, with the right knowledge." It concerns *who* has the power to make decisions and their jurisdiction, and fundamentally is the *who*, *how* and *what* of decision-making. Governance is distinguished from **management** which refers to ongoing, on-the-ground operational activities, primarily focused on the *means* and "doing things right."

Watershed governance is an emerging concept that involves reorganizing and nesting our decision-making approaches to better align with ecological boundaries, and promote stewardship and protection of fresh water in its ecological context.

Successful models of watershed governance are influenced by local priorities, geography, history, culture, and economics. The ultimate goal is healthy functioning watersheds, and to ensure sufficient, clean fresh water now and into the future as the foundation of both resilient communities and a robust economy.

Adapted from Brandes, O.M., O'Riordan, J., O'Riordan, T., & Brandes, L. (2014, January). A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Retrieved from http://poliswaterproject.org/blueprint

i. The three-day forum *Watersheds 2014: Towards Watershed Governance in British Columbia and Beyond* was held on Cowichan Tribes territory in Duncan, British Columbia from January 27th to 29th, 2014. It attracted nearly 200 delegates, plus over 75 additional virtual participants via online events across the country. The delegates came together from a diversity of backgrounds including watershed groups, researchers, professional resource managers, and decision-makers at all levels of government, including First Nations—to re-envision the way we use, share, and respect our fresh water and watershed.

REPORT OVERVIEW

The purpose of this report is to illuminate perspectives around watershed governance in B.C., and draw out key insights that will guide and shape the activities of current and future water decision-makers. To achieve this, the report:

- 1) Explores perceptions of existing approaches to water management and governance, and outlines research participants' perspectives on what watershed governance *should* look like in B.C.;
- 2) Identifies key areas where greater capacity is needed to enable watershed governance;
- 3) Investigates whether support exists for a province-wide capacity building organization, and identifies potential benefits and challenges that might arise with such a "hub".

The following section, *Why This Study? Why Now?*, provides further background context for the data collection, data analysis, findings, and conclusions in this report. It briefly overviews how public knowledge and attitudes towards fresh water are shifting. It also points to key water issues and conflicts emerging across B.C. This context demonstrates increasing momentum toward watershed governance, along with the need for improved approaches to decision-making.

Section 4, *Findings and Insights*, is the body of this report. It summarizes data collected through three primary means: interviews, e-survey, and a First Nations' Roundtable. Findings are grouped into four core theme areas:

- 1) The Current State of Watershed Governance in B.C.
- 2) What Should Watershed Governance Look Like?
- 3) Building Capacity to Move Forward
- 4) Does B.C. Need a Watershed Governance Hub?

Finally, Section 5, *Conclusions and Next Steps*, draws out key points and insights emerging from the data, and discusses how these perspectives contribute to supporting progress towards watershed governance in B.C.



2. Why This Study? Why Now?

2.1 AWAKENING TO OUR NEW WATER REALITY

he summer of 2015 saw a drought of historic proportions in regions of British Columbia. Reduced snowpack in the winter, minimal precipitation in the spring, and hotter-than-usual conditions in the summer gave rise to increasingly serious water availability concerns in a number of watersheds across the province.³ This confluence of events is a potent reminder that British Columbia is not immune to freshwater management and governance challenges. Problems plague our neighbours to the south: California has been hobbled by a decade-long drought, and Washington State declared a state of drought emergency in 2015. The critical issues in these jurisdictions provide the punctuation to our urgency for action.

LURCHING FROM PROBLEM TO PROBLEM

2014-2015 was not the first year that B.C.'s watersheds have been under pressure. In the summer of 2006, Tofino's sole water reservoir almost ran dry, and the town lost hundreds of thousands of dollars in revenue from the threat of business shutdown.⁴ Due to extreme low flows in the Cowichan River in 2012, spawning salmon had to be trucked up-river when sections of the river became too shallow for fish passage.⁵ In the Township of Langley, which relies on groundwater for roughly 80 per cent of its supply, aquifer levels have been dropping by as much as 30 cm per year for the past 30 years due to increasing demand and unchecked flowing of thousands of long-forgotten artesian wells.⁶ And in 2014, a breach in the tailings pond at the Mount Polley copper and gold mine sent a year's worth of toxic mining waste into multiple lakes and creeks in the Cariboo region of central B.C.⁷ All of these serious situations can be directly linked to needs for new forms of management and decision-making related to fresh water in B.C.

ECONOMIC RISKS

Increasing competition for water from a range of users, including agricultural producers, energy producers, growing municipalities, and resource development, is further

WHY THIS STUDY? 5



elevating B.C.'s water challenges. The private sector recognizes that fresh water availability and quality is now a key risk factor for business in the province, whether it's agricultural production, mining, hydro, tourism or manufacturing. Water is an input or throughput in virtually every economic activity in B.C. and our current lack of knowledge and planning for its future is becoming a serious concern to many businesses.⁸

PUBLIC ATTITUDES ARE SHIFTING

Long taken for granted, water is becoming a top-of-mind issue globally and across Canada and in B.C. Recent trends suggest water's fundamental importance cannot be denied and the need for better management and new rules to ensure protection and stewardship are urgently needed (see Figure 2: *Selected Recent Public Opinion Research on Fresh Water*).

A Provincial Policy Opportunity

In spring 2014, the British Columbia provincial government introduced Bill 18— *Water Sustainability Act* (*WSA*) into the provincial legislature. The *WSA* will come into full force when all the regulations are implemented. The first wave of regulations



will be enacted in early 2016, with the full suite of regulations expected to be in place by 2017. The new WSA represents the culmination of six years of consultation to modernize the previous *Water Act*, which was over 100 years old and sorely out of date. The WSA is a critical first step to ensuring better and regionally appropriate protection for environmental flows, water planning, groundwater licensing, and incentives for improving efficiency and promoting conservation. This new legislation has the potential to usher in a new and exciting era of water stewardship in B.C.—an era based upon partnership and shared responsibility, and fundamentally centred on the concept of protection rather than simply rules for resource extraction (see Box 2: Key Elements of the *Water Sustainability Act*).

Building Momentum for Watershed Governance

In addition to the specific window of opportunity offered by the new *WSA*, an emerging interest around the concept and potential of watershed governance from all levels of government and civil society is coalescing. A palpable sense of momentum behind watershed governance is evidenced through numerous recent policy documents and initiatives, as well as a number of focused research reports and conferences (a chronological timeline of key government releases and other drivers is outlined in Appendix 1).

FIGURE 2. Selected Recent Public Opinion Research on Fresh Water.

INFOGRAPHIC BY MARCI JANECEK

McAllister Opinion Research. (2014). Freshwater Insights 2013: A Survey of British Columbian Attitudes on Fresh Water. Conducted May 2013, Final Report Released February 2014. Retrieved from: http://www.refbc.com/sites/default/files/ V1.02-PUBLIC-RELEASE-BC-WATER-POLL-2013-Final-Topline-Findings.pdf. Out of this dialogue, watershed governance is emerging as a desirable and feasible option for improving leadership and institutional capacity for freshwater protection across B.C., with the potential to clarify roles and responsibilities and, ultimately, enhance accountability around decision-making. However, despite a broad desire for progress, it remains clear that the skills, leadership, and resources required to improve decision-making are currently lacking.

BOX 2: KEY ELEMENTS OF THE WATER SUSTAINABILITY ACT

B.C.'s *Water Sustainability Act* creates a genuine window of opportunity for change. This new legislation is the cornerstone of the *Living Water Smart* provincial water policy. It seeks to fulfill the potential for a shared stewardship approach through better water management, improved planning, and delegated decision-making with those sectors and individuals most impacted by water-related decisions across the province. New planning and governance elements are of particular interest as they offer genuine opportunities to better share or delegate decision-making in the *Act* (for example, see s. 126 of the *Act*). These provisions offer significant potential to fundamentally shift B.C.'s approach to a partnership-based regime that emphasizes more local participation and influence.

A number of key elements define the new legislative regime, including:

- **Regulation of groundwater for the first time.** This will allow the Province to better manage surface and groundwater as one interconnected resource.
- Improved protection of water flows for ecosystems and fish. The WSA requires decision-makers to consider environmental flow needs when issuing new water licences and also includes provisions to ensure short-term critical flow and fish population protections.
- A new comprehensive planning regime. The WSA enables the creation of water sustainability plans. These plans will allow for customized regional solutions that can impose a variety of water-sharing arrangements or requirements on water users, which can be made binding through regulation. Alternatively, area-based regulations enable statutory decisionmakers to make very generally-applied regulations under specific circumstances, without the need for an approved water sustainability plan.
- **The potential for delegated decision-making.** The *WSA* introduces the potential for the Minister to delegate certain decisions specific to the *Act* to other organizations or entities.
- A new power to set water objectives to better integrate water into land-use decisions. Water objectives can be set for the purposes of sustaining water quality, quantity, and aquatic ecosystems. Once established, they will require all decision-makers and local governments in a watershed to consider the impacts of their decisions on the stated water objectives.⁹



Living

Water Smar

3. Methods for Determining What the Freshwater Community is Thinking

esearch methods for this project were designed to gather perspectives from every watershed in B.C., and to reflect a wide range of insights from critical parties and several water sectors in the province. This includes federal, provincial, First Nations, and local governments; professional water managers; the private sector; researchers; water funders; stewardship and community watershed groups; and various non-governmental actors working across the province. Data were collected through three primary means:

- 1) interviews with key informants;
- 2) First Nations' Roundtable discussion; and,
- 3) an electronic survey.

The purpose and approach of each method is briefly summarized here. Appendix 3 contains a detailed breakdown of methodology and assumptions.

1) Interviews with Key Informants

Eight expert informant interviews were conducted with watershed governance thought-leaders who were selected by the Project Team to provide insights from seven key sectors. The purposes of the interviews were:

- To test and confirm the assumptions upon which this project was based and inform the creation of the e-survey (as outlined in Appendix 3);
- To deepen our collective understanding about the needs and challenges facing a broad range of key water sectors;
- To identify concrete tools, resources, and support networks that would advance watershed governance initiatives; and,
- To test whether there is a need for a province-wide capacity-building organization to provide capacity support for local watershed entities, and investigate what this might look like.

2) First Nations' Roundtable

A dialogue involving six First Nations water leaders was convened for a half-day roundtable discussion in Vancouver on April 27th, 2015. The participants were identified and invited by the First Nations Fisheries Council. Each participant was invited to participate as an individual because of their unique interest and expertise in this area, not as a representative of their community or organization. The objectives of the First Nations' Roundtable were:

- To better understand the needs and challenges being faced by First Nations with respect to strengthening and enhancing local watershed governance; and
- To enhance our collective understanding of the tools, resources, and support networks needed to help drive and better operationalize watershed governance throughout British Columbia.

Insights and themes from this dialogue were visually reproduced in two "infographics" (as shown subsequently, and in Appendix 3).



3) Electronic Survey

The findings in this report are also based on the largest survey of its kind on the subject of watershed governance in British Columbia. The survey was developed to gather information and opinions about the future of watershed governance in B.C. from a broad range of respondents working in freshwater management, stewardship, or decisionmaking. Questions focused on identifying current watershed governance challenges, capacity needs, and the perceived value of a province-wide capacity-building organization. The survey was distributed to an estimated 4,000 recipients in B.C. using an online platform.ⁱⁱ In total, 439 individuals working in watersheds across the province completed the e-survey, including respondents from local government, First Nations, provincial government, federal government, stewardship groups, industry,ⁱⁱⁱ professional associations, foundations, advocacy organizations, and academia. A high level of supplementary comments were provided in addition to the specific multiple-choice answers. The completion and response rate indicates substantial interest and engagement on the topic of watershed governance.



ii Recipients included individuals in local government, First Nations, provincial government, federal government, stewardship groups, industry, professional associations, and the freshwater community in general. In addition, the e-survey was distributed to over 2,500 other recipients via eight partner organizations. The e-survey distribution partners were representatives from the B.C. Business Council, B.C. Ministry of Environment, Canadian Freshwater Alliance, Environment Canada's Ecosystem Partnerships Program, First Nations Fisheries Council, Partnership for Water Sustainability in B.C., Regional District of Nanaimo, and University of Victoria's Faculty of Law.

iii The e-survey used the term "industry" to encompass a broad range of sectors in B.C.'s business community, including both extractive sectors (such as forestry and mining) and non-extractive sectors (such as agriculture and tourism). Throughout this report, we also use the terms "business community" and "private sector" to refer to the mix of firms and businesses that are operating in B.C.'s watersheds.

4. Findings & Insights

indings and insights gathered through the interviews, roundtable, and e-survey are organized in this chapter under the following key themes:

- The Current State of Watershed Governance in B.C. explores perceptions of the existing approaches to water management and governance in B.C. Findings here emphasize the wide-ranging dissatisfaction with the status-quo approach to decision-making, and provide some of the solutions proposed by the participants.
- What Should Watershed Governance Look Like? outlines participants' perspectives on what watershed governance should look like in British Columbia. The data show patterns of strong consensus in some areas, such as the importance of collaboration between multiple actors, but less certainty or differences in opinion in other areas, such as the role of the private sector in watershed governance.
- **Building Capacity to Move Forward** summarizes findings related to the capacity needs that participants identified as important for enabling watershed governance. This includes key insights on a series of "winning conditions" for watershed governance and the relationships, tools, and services that would be beneficial for making progress on these conditions.
- Does B.C. Need a Watershed Governance Hub? presents participants' perspectives on the idea of a province-wide capacity-building organization. The data reveal general support for such an organization, and provide insights about both its potential opportunities and challenges.

4.1 FINDINGS AND INSIGHTS: THE CURRENT STATE OF WATERSHED GOVERNANCE IN B.C.

Making Decisions in the Dark

A central theme in the interviews, First Nations' Roundtable discussion, and e-survey responses was an experience of frustration with the current system of centralized, "top-down" management and governance (led by senior governments). This system is viewed as incapable of dealing with the current realities of climate change, population growth, and resource development. The interviews revealed a commonly-held concern that decisions are currently being made in the dark.

"Because right now they're basically **making decisions in the dark.**"

INTERVIEWEE (FIRST NATIONS)

"[T]o allow all of us to kind of wander in the darkness is just stupid talk because what's going to happen is, we're going to have another province-wide crisis and then there will be another outcry, but we'll be behind the game." INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"It's important to be proactive for the future and have an informed foundation upon which to make a decision, and not be shooting blindly in the dark." INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

The e-survey responses provided an even clearer picture of dissatisfaction with the current approach to water governance. Only four per cent of participants agreed that the current approach to management and decision-making about water in B.C. is

> fine as it is. Eighty-three per cent of e-survey respondents disagreed with this statement (and the remainder

were unsure). Similarly, three-quarters of respondents indicated that based on what they know, fresh water is currently being managed either poorly or very poorly in British Columbia.

Insights on Failures of the Current System

The following themes drawn from the study data reveal a number of key insights related to the failures of the current system.

1) FIRST NATIONS EXCLUDED

In the First Nations' Roundtable, it was clear that participants believe First Nations are not part of the current system of governance. Roundtable participants emphasized that they feel the Crown is consistently failing to recognize and respect First Nations' laws, values, and traditional knowledge with respect to the land and water. The participants in the Roundtable also expressed frustration with the fact that the current system of governance treats water and other natural resources as commodities, which is inconsistent with First Nations' holistic view of water as a life source.

<mark>% 13% 83%</mark>

FIGURE 5. Perspectives on current management approaches: "The current approach to management and decision-making about water in B.C. is fine as is."



FINDINGS & INSIGHTS 13

FIGURE 6. How well is B.C.'s fresh water currently being managed to ensure its protection? "Based on what you know, how well is fresh water currently being managed to ensure its protection in B.C.?"



"First Nations people of B.C. and Canada have gone through 150 years of colonialism and impacts of outside forces. Those forces didn't respect the people that were here, our laws, our culture, or our way of life. They just did everything they could to break it ... [The government] has done a terrible job. We're in a state of crisis today and now they are looking back at First Nations, going 'Well, what do you guys think?""

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

"The Creator gave us responsibilities—inherent responsibilities—towards the lands and the water. So really, it's the practice of ensuring that we are doing our teachings and the laws for Indigenous people. Right now if they are not recognized, then they are not being followed. [The current approach] is based on exploitation and treating water as a commodity, but we don't view it as that. We view water as a life source, a gift of life. Our views are very different and they are not being understood or recognized because they just want to sell it or to use it—like LNG—to take up so much water in their processes."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

2) THE SYSTEM IS OUT-DATED AND NOT SUITED TO THE MODERN CONTEXT

A common message emerging from the key informant interviews was that the existing system is no longer functioning and does not address modern concerns and needs related to watershed protection.

"Unfortunately, what we have been dealt over the last 150 years in British Columbia is an archaic system of governance based on multiple jurisdictions ... [I]t's a governance model that is not designed to respond to current changes and expectations."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"... the political boundaries don't lend themselves to managing water appropriately."

INTERVIEWEE (PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGER)

3) THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT HAS BEEN RETREATING FROM ITS ROLE

One of the core challenges for watershed governance identified in previous literature is the recognition that senior governments no longer have the capacity to effectively manage water resources alone.¹⁰ The interviewees in this study echoed this conclusion.

"Because of their huge deficits, there's recognition that both federal and provincial government are in general retreat. The traditional services that they used to provide are not being provided. They don't have the resources to enforce their own regulations. And, with the absence of that historical governance and the retreat from that governance model, there's been a void. I know our region and communities have recognized that void and are saying, 'We can do better.'"

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"The Province is moving away from actually doing things. We've seen that over the last decade, 15 years, with **downloading**."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

Reflecting the same concerns around provincial leadership and capacity, almost three-quarters of survey respondents agreed that: "The current approach to

72%	15%	13%	i

management and decision-making about water in B.C. would benefit from more provincial government

involvement (and the necessary complementing resources such as staff and budgets)."

4) COMMUNITIES ARE ILL-PREPARED AND SIMPLY REACTING TO PROBLEMS

Informants generally recognized past harms and current realities, such as climate change, are forcing communities to become reactive and lurch from problem to problem, and that this is unacceptable.

"Climate change is driving this agenda for us, but also population growth and poor land use practices. As we strive to grow our communities and generate wealth for our businesses and our families, we've done much harm, and there's a growing realization that we have to do things differently if we're going to have a place to enjoy for our children and our grandchildren."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"I think the perspective that many share—and that First Nations definitely share—and people may not see it, but, it's almost too late. If we don't move as strongly and as quickly as we can to deal with all of these huge issues, it's going to be too late."

INTERVIEWEE (WATERSHED BOARD & FIRST NATIONS)

FIGURE 7. More provincial government involvement and resources needed:

"The current approach to management and decisionmaking about water in B.C. would benefit from more provincial government involvement (and necessary complementing resources, such as staff and budgets)."

AGREE UNSURE DISAGREE

Getting Out of the Dark: How Do We Turn on the Light?

Although participants in the study highlighted numerous problems with the existing system, they also shared constructive approaches to address these problems. This section highlights themes for moving forward with a modern governance framework.

1) ADOPT PROACTIVE COLLABORATIVE MODELS

For the majority of informants, "turning on the light" means adopting a proactive approach to decision-making based on a collaborative model driven by local interests and knowledge. It means exploring new forms of watershed governance and re-evaluating both who is making decisions about B.C.'s watersheds and how those decisions are being made.

"[Watershed governance is] important for making sound, proactive decisions for the future in terms of water sustainability. Whether it's an allocation decision or a decision about protective measures, I think if the decisionmaking is founded on a collaborative process, and it's locally driven and if it has a basis of science and knowledge, then it will be effective for the future." INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

"[I] don't think B.C. has a choice.... I think the timing is really good to raise the issue and raise it loudly ... And I think that really looking at innovative ways to form partnerships that we might not have considered before is important—and maybe creating unlikely partnerships might be a possibility."

INTERVIEWEE (FIRST NATIONS)

2) IMPLEMENT THE B.C. WATER SUSTAINABILITY ACT

Many in this study recognize that *WSA* implementation is a critical step in B.C.'s shift towards watershed governance, as it provides the potential for new watershed governance entities to assume more responsibility and decision-making authority. Findings demonstrate that progress towards a modern watershed governance framework is intertwined with the implementation of the *WSA* and will be an important barometer of the legislation's ultimate success or failure.

"[T]he stepping stones have been put in place. The work on actually developing the Water Sustainability Act and moving from the Water Act into the new legislation is a really good first step. Once the regulations are actually implemented, then that's when the effective governance models can be given authority and actually make some decisions in the new framework provided by the legislation. I think we're ready. I think with anything new there are always things you don't foresee about how it's going to play out; so, it'll be a learning curve. But I think now is the time, for sure, and we've been building towards it for a while."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

16 ILLUMINATION



FIGURE 8. Local watershed entities needed: "Please say how much you agree that local watershed entities will be needed to ensure B.C.'s new Water Sustainability Act is implemented to its fullest potential."

STRONGLY AGREE AGREE NEITHER AGREE NOR DISAGREE DISAGREE STRONGLY DISAGREE Interview informants also recognized that the creation of local watershed governance entities would be required to implement the WSA effectively (see Box 3: *What is a Watershed Entity?*). Eighty-five per cent of e-survey respondents agreed or strongly agreed that local watershed entities will be needed to ensure the new *Water Sustainability Act* is implemented to its fullest potential (only three per cent disagreed with this statement).

"Watershed entities in addition to a variety of other organizations will be needed to ensure that **implementation** of the Act is successful."

SURVEY COMMENT

3) RECOGNIZE INDIGENOUS RIGHTS

Many of the interviewees and First Nations' Roundtable participants highlighted the importance of recognizing Indigenous rights associated with First Nations' traditional territories, practices, and culture. In particular, the First Nations' Roundtable discussion emphasized that Indigenous peoples in British Columbia hold inherent ownership of territorial lands and waters that include care-taking responsibilities and jurisdiction. Pursuing reconciliation is seen as an essential condition for effective watershed governance.

"The traditional territory of the First Nations has to be recognized and reconciled in terms of the holistic principles that First Nations, Indigenous people hold to the lands and the resources ... There are existing Aboriginal rights that need to be taken into consideration."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

"We should have done it 150 years ago."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

4) IMPROVE MONITORING AND REPORTING ON WATER AND WATER MANAGEMENT

19%

Near-consensus exists (98 per cent of e-survey respondents) that improved monitoring and reporting on water and water management will be necessary in the next 10

2%



years in B.C., with 79 per cent of respondents indicating that it will be very necessary.

FIGURE 9. Improved monitoring and reporting on water is very necessary:

"In the next 10 years, how much will each of the following be needed with respect to water management and decisionmaking in B.C.?"

VERY NECESSARY NECESSARY

Section Summary

Based on our findings, there is clear dissatisfaction with the current state of watershed governance in B.C. The existing approach is considered to be out-dated, poorly resourced, and disrespectful of Indigenous rights and knowledge. Moreover, the status-quo leaves communities ill-prepared to deal with the many threats facing their local watersheds.

79%

Fortunately, the data revealed a number of clear pathways for developing a modern watershed governance framework, including adopting collaborative models for watershed governance, effective implementation of the *Water Sustainability Act*, full recognition of Indigenous rights, and improved monitoring and reporting on water and water management. These could be considered as foundational pillars for enabling new approaches to watershed governance, and for taking water management in British Columbia out of the dark ages and into the 21st Century.

The next section presents more specific findings about what watershed governance should look like in B.C., including who should be involved, who should make decisions, and at what scale.

4.2 FINDINGS AND INSIGHTS: WHAT SHOULD WATERSHED GOVERNANCE LOOK LIKE?

Who Needs to be Involved?

1) WATERSHED GOVERNANCE IS INHERENTLY COLLABORATIVE

One point of clear consensus is that watershed governance needs to be undertaken collaboratively and must involve multiple players, including senior governments, First Nations, local governments, citizens, NGOs, and the private sector (see Box 4: *Perspectives on Key Players in Collaborative Watershed Governance*).

"We are not going to change the way we have been doing business, unless it's in a collaborative approach. There's too much invested in so many different ways by so many different groups, that if we are going to create a model to provide a sustainable water resource, there is no other way but to do it together." INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"For me, governance is decision-making and management, but it should include all of the people, not just the government. A lot of the time, government tends to think they have answers to everything and then they present it, roll it out, whether they include the input of community members or not. I am thinking generally, all community members, not just First Nations. A lot of the time, the community people that live within watershed don't have a say or a place to have input."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

The informant interviews reiterated many of the benefits of collaborative decisionmaking that have been well-documented in previous studies and reports.¹¹ Two important insights that complement this existing understanding are the potential for collaborative initiatives to attract investment and support from a broad spectrum of funders, and to strengthen communities through respect for diverse knowledge systems.

BOX 3: WHAT IS A WATERSHED ENTITY?

In this report (and provided as context in the e-survey questions), the term "Watershed Entity" (WE) refers to the holistic organizations and governance arrangements that might exist at the watershed scale, and are generally seen to be necessary to move towards a new, more watershed-focused approach.

WEs might include authorities, boards, trusts, regional bodies, or other watershed partnerships or arrangements. WEs are characterized as having formal support and a recognized governing mandate, as well as identified roles and responsibilities relating to preserving and promoting watershed health and function, and sustaining the local economy and community well-being.

This notion of a Watershed Entity is also consistent with what is proposed in the *Water Sustainability Act*, which supports the possibility of formal role(s) for local "watershed governance arrangements" (people or agencies outside the provincial government) that might be involved in delegation or sharing of some watershed stewardship functions or decisions.

For more information and discussion on this concept, see: Brandes, O.M., O'Riordan, J., O'Riordan, T., & Brandes, L. (2014, January). *A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia*. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria, p. 15–17. Available online: http:// poliswaterproject.org/blueprint a) Strength in Diversity: A major theme expressed by several informants, including First Nations interviewees, is the critical need to recognize, respect, and value Indigenous knowledge and processes. One of the central benefits of collaborative decision-making is its potential to integrate many knowledge systems to ensure better information for decision-making.

"There are a number of factors that have to be keyed in, like there needs to be agreements on respecting knowledge. For example, traditional knowledge has to be equally considered with Western scientific knowledge ... QUOTATION CONTINUED >

BOX 4: PERSPECTIVES ON KEY PLAYERS IN COLLABORATIVE WATERSHED GOVERNANCE

Successful watershed governance depends on broad participation from a wide range of actors. These organizations, governments, and individuals contribute to decision-making in unique ways, and this research explored these different roles. The following summarizes these impressions:



Provincial Government: While many interviewees and e-survey respondents noted that the provincial government is retreating from its traditional water management role, there was agreement that the Province has an integral role to play in setting standards and thresholds, enforcement, and promoting and enabling local watershed governance.

Federal Government: The federal government was only peripherally acknowledged for its role in fisheries, but some respondents did acknowledge that there is a Constitutional role for the federal government in ongoing water management and governance.





First Nations: All interviewees agreed that First Nations need to be involved in collaborative initiatives and most agreed that co-governance between First Nations and non-First Nations actors is essential.

Local Government: Most respondents agreed that local government has a critical role to play in facilitating and coordinating local collaborative watershed governance. Local governments were seen as wearing many hats, including: convenor, facilitator, educator, coordinator, participant, planner, and regional decision-maker (for example, zoning, drinking water management, riparian protection). There was a particular emphasis on the importance and opportunity for regional districts to consider their roles in watershed governance, given their interconnectedness with different levels of government and roles in both regional and community-based planning and decision-making.



Citizens & NGOs: Regardless of the scale for watershed governance, respondents recognized the value of local citizens and NGOs in contributing to public education and information gathering. NGOs are considered "powerful advocates" that are able to push governments towards new forms of governance. Citizens and NGOs are seen as providing valuable oversight. They are also the "boots on the ground,"

providing considerable human resources, local expertise, information gathering, and monitoring to inform decision-making. Citizens tend to be most engaged at the scale of their local watershed. As such, it is critical that watershed governance continues to engage and be relevant to communities and volunteers at the watershed level.

The Private Sector: Informants agreed that private sector representatives must be participants in local decision-making in order to be "part of the solution." Business and industry should be acknowledged as members of the watershed and the community.





I think that you could do a lot of good by diversifying where you're getting your information, thereby making it stronger ... When everyone has a sense that they can relate to what you're doing, that's a really important part of community development in general ... and can create more connected community meetings between First Nations and non-First Nations."

INTERVIEWEE (FIRST NATIONS)

b) Financial Sustainability: An interviewee sharing the perspective of local government indicated that when a collaborative initiative can demonstrate the ability to successfully collaborate on projects and programs, its potential to attract *more* investment from government, funders, and other potential partners is likely to increase.

"Funders love nothing better than to see a group of people spreading the financial risk around."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

2) MORE LOCAL COMMUNITY INPUT DESIRED

There is strong agreement that decision-making around water should involve more

61%

local input than it does presently. Ninety-two per cent of e-survey respondents indicated it would be

very necessary or necessary to have more local community input into government decisions in the next 10 years.

This desire for local involvement is based on the belief that the communities that reside in a watershed have the greatest knowledge about what is happening in their area and the strongest investment in ensuring the watershed is protected.

"[F]rom my perspective, it is around effective and meaningful engagement of community—the people that live in that watershed [know] what is going on in their area, and need to know what decisions are being made and how including the decision-making process and relevant policies."

INTERVIEWEE (FIRST NATIONS)

3) CO-GOVERNANCE WITH FIRST NATIONS IS ESSENTIAL

In both the interviews and the First Nations' Roundtable, strong statements emphasized the importance of recognizing and supporting First Nations' leadership in watershed governance and moving towards co-governance with First Nations.^{iv}

"The missing link is co-governance and that's where we're headed next."

INTERVIEWEE (STEWARDSHIP)

FIGURE 10. Agreement that more local input into decision-making is needed:

4%3

31%

"More local community input into government decisions (i.e., municipal/regional, provincial, aboriginal government or band, or federal decisions) is needed."

VERY NECESSARY NECESSARY NEITHER NEEDED NOR NOT NEEDED UNNECESSARY VERY UNNECESSARY

iv Aboriginal co-governance of water and watersheds was the topic of a December 2014 POLIS Water Sustainability Project webinar. Speakers from the Centre for Indigenous Environmental Resources, First Nations Fisheries Council, and the ICCA Consortium/POLIS Project describe successful examples, emerging opportunities for change, and what conditions or frameworks must be in place to ensure co-governance arrangements can thrive. The recording and summary are available online: http://poliswaterproject.org/webinar/803

"When I start thinking about governance seriously, I have to really look at what they've done in the Cowichan. A big part of it that I really like, and it seems to have worked nicely, is the leadership with First Nations. That's what we need to do here. That's what we all need to do."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

"I mean, everybody understands we're in a different, more positive world. [The Regional District] and, well, all the municipalities are working towards co-governance and moving very quickly to try and deal with the relationship issue. They know there's going to be friction and they know that there's going to be implications, but they're still trying to move forward."

INTERVIEWEE (WATERSHED BOARD & FIRST NATIONS)

Respondents also acknowledged the existing significant barriers and challenges to moving towards Indigenous-led approaches and co-governance. These include:

- a failure to value traditional knowledge in decisions;
- a lack of acknowledgement by the provincial government of First Nations' rights and title;
- First Nations' capacity;
- rigid and bureaucratic processes that are not co-created and generally amplify a feeling of mistrust, lack of respect, and a sense of tokenism; and,
- funding for existing watershed governance initiatives based on taxation that is used to justify the exclusion of First Nations from assuming decision-making authority.

The Roundtable discussions focused on these significant hurdles for moving towards true co-governance. Many of these barriers will not easily be removed, or might take many years to address. However, working together through meaningful watershed decision-making processes can be an important step towards the trustbuilding and reconciliation needed to begin addressing these identified concerns.

"It has to be an equal playing field. For instance, if your regional district has a water board and all of the local mayors are on that water board, but only one First Nations representative or Chief is on the board, but you have eight Chiefs in your Nation, then it's not fair. We are also so over-stretched for capacity that the one person can hardly make all the board meetings, and they don't represent every community, each of which has its own priorities." FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

"What we need to do is understand what it is we want to achieve with First Nations. We talk about it in co-governance language, but we want to get that straight, where we want to go, before we jump into a structure that starts defining what it is ... that definition can only be dealt with First Nations' input, and that input just doesn't happen ... it just takes a lot of discussions and a fair amount of time to talk about what it is you're trying to achieve and build trust, and build relationships." "You need to have a governance model that is effective ... We've demonstrated that on a smaller scale with the Cowichan Watershed Board, because it's a **true partnership between Cowichan Tribes and local governments, a true partnership**.... It's a simple tool of co-chair and it's interesting, we don't have very many models of co-chairs elsewhere, but we took the same co-chair initiative with our health network (Cowichan Committee's Health Network) ... A major part of that is that collaborative governance model with First Nations where we're both equal at the table."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

4) DIVIDED OPINIONS ON THE ROLE OF THE PRIVATE SECTOR

The e-survey revealed less agreement around the role of the private sector in decisionmaking around water. Half of the respondents indicated that it was very necessary or necessary to have more industry input into government decisions, with the remaining 49 per cent indicating they were uncertain or opposed to more input.

A recurring theme in e-survey and interview comments was that it is important for industry to provide input into decisions, but that this input should not be given priority over community interests.

"I think industry practices are an important input into informing how government decisions need to be made in terms of developing satisfactory regulatory and enforcement regimes. This implies, however, that industry inputs are not weighted more favourably over the interests of the public and First Nations."

SURVEY COMMENT

"Industries should not be given a greater say in water management than local communities, however, involving them to forecast their needs going forward would be beneficial."

SURVEY COMMENT

"I support industry but fear its short-sightedness and profit-orientation when it comes to preserving resources indefinitely. **Industry input is necessary but must be assessed critically**."

SURVEY COMMENT

"If you think of it from a business person's point of view, and they're in community, they want to be part of that community. So it's trying to find that really nuanced place where we don't exist outside of community." INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

"I think we can operate with industry because we will ensure they have a social licence to be there."

INTERVIEWEE (STEWARDSHIP)



FIGURE 11. Disagreement around whether more industry input into government decisionmaking is needed: "In the next 10 years how much will more industry input into government decisions (i.e. municipal/regional, provincial, First Nations, federal) be needed with respect to water management and decisionmaking in B.C.?"



"[Industry] has to have the confidence and faith going forward that this new model is for the greater good and **it's not about harming industry** and it's not about punitive taxation. Industry employs our people, feeds our families, and helps build our communities, but somehow we have to find a greater balance."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

Who Has Authority?

An important goal of the study was to test, and better understand, respondents' perspectives on who should have authority for decision-making on water. The e-survey revealed a high level of agreement that delegated decision-making authority to local

9% 12%

watershed entities is a desirable goal of watershed governance. Seventynine per cent of respondents

indicated that they strongly agreed that the current approach to management and decision-making around water in B.C. would benefit from a framework that shares and in some cases delegates decision-making responsibilities to more local entities. Twelve per cent were unsure, and nine percent disagreed."

1) DELEGATING AUTHORITY SHOULD NOT BE AN EXCUSE FOR DOWNLOADING

Some e-survey comments add additional nuance to this finding, including caveats for when it makes most sense to delegate authority. Various respondents suggested that delegation may not be appropriate or possible in all areas and should not be an excuse for downloading responsibilities without the necessary resources or regulatory support.

"Local watershed entities won't be possible in ALL cases (especially in some of the less populated areas) ... so there will need to be mechanisms to ensure that where local watershed entities don't exist, that good decisions can still be made." SURVEY COMMENT

"In some areas more shared local control would work. In other areas, it may be that increased capacity at the provincial government level (and municipal) would suffice, or a First Nation in titled lands."

SURVEY COMMENT

"I'd support a watershed board model, assuming that regulatory powers and responsibilities were supported by the Province."

SURVEY COMMENT

"We should be careful not to download responsibilities to groups without adequate resources or labour power."

SURVEY COMMENT

"Without capacity, nothing will be able to be managed. You can't just expect local governments to take on this responsibility. The Province needs to set forth more direction and goals to protect water resources."

SURVEY COMMENT

FIGURE 12. Perspectives on a delegated decision-making

79%

framework: "The current approach to management and decision-making around water in B.C. would benefit from a framework that shares and in some cases delegated decisionmaking responsibilities to more local entities."



"First Nations' rights and title issues also need to be addressed because without this it would only replicate existing scenarios where First Nations are being asked to participate in colonial water governance processes, rather than co-governance."

SURVEY COMMENT

2) DELEGATING AUTHORITY REQUIRES PROVINCIAL OVERSIGHT AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Informants also highlighted the need for a provincial regulatory framework that will enable and provide a structure for delegation while ensuring strong provincial oversight and accountability.

"There are several challenges. First of all, one of the greatest challenges is the new regulations. The Water Sustainability Act has opened a door for us in terms of potential for the Province to actually recognize watershed authorities. The question is, will they develop the regulations that will allow us to take on some new authority? This means relinquishing of some Provincial regulatory authority to local authorities to better manage the resource.... And we need to have a government that is willing and open to do that." INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"I think there needs to be some delegated authority ... having decisions come from the local insights of First Nations, local governments, municipalities, or stewardship groups. I know in the Water Sustainability Act there's kind of a caveat that even when they delegate authority, the final say comes back to the Province. In some cases, I think it could be good to have that oversight and accountability in terms of locally informed decision-making, but having Provincial oversight provides a pretty well-laid out structure of regulatory processes, so that we have something to hang our hat on.... If strong regulatory guidance is put into place by the Province, that will result in a good tool box to help us achieve important actions based on local decisions and local vision for how we want to manage our water resources and our communities."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

3) FIRST NATIONS' ROLE IN DELEGATED DECISION-MAKING

Uncertainty was expressed around how local watershed boards would work with First Nations to make decisions. This reflects the need to ensure Indigenous rights are respected, and for First Nations to be at the forefront of the decision-making process.

"I don't know how that would work. You really aren't going to have the true power of having First Nations involved and helping guide without decisionmaking powers. It is not good enough to say, "We all need to work in this together, but we're going to make the decisions and you just get to play." We can't do that. Having said that, I don't know how we would make that work. Maybe it means that First Nations are part of our board."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

"Along with having a place to have input, [watershed governance requires] an equal voice in decision-making and respecting all cultural, traditional values that everyone has."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

4) A BUSINESS PERSPECTIVE ON DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY

The business community perspective was an exception to the general desire in the e-survey for delegated decision-making. One interviewee favoured more centralized decision-making and expressed concerns that delegating decision-making would lead to balkanization, uncertainty for the private sector, and increased fees paid by companies to fund regional bodies.

"[T]he business community doesn't support delegated authority in a water governance model.... We want to maintain a very strong centralized decision-making authority.... business concerns are around a balkanized system. If you fully delegate that authority to a regional body, there are issues of uncertainty, and regions playing off regions ... a decentralized system has to be funded. The usual approach is to look to the business community. Government keeps adding more and more user fees, and less and less is allocated from general revenue. These fees and extra costs are usually paid for by industry. At some point, you are uncompetitive and there are negative economic effects. If you fully play out the decentralized model, it's all based on user fees from a regional basis."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

It should be noted that the business community representative supported collaboration at the watershed scale, but drew a distinction between collaborative decision-making by watershed entities and collaborative forums that simply *inform* decisions by senior governments—with the former being less desirable and the latter being an advisory role that "leads to better, informed decision-making."

"... from a business perspective, [an appropriate and meaningful but advisory, not decision-making, role] would be the closest that I think we would get to supporting a watershed governance model where you have a collaborative table. You have a facilitated conversation about what your objectives are. You build information and knowledge, so that those tables, whatever they look like, have enough content themselves to make recommendations ... listening is key."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

The business community representative commented that it might also be too soon to "jump" to a delegated governance model without having more practical experience of collaboration at the advisory level, although the survey responses from industry and water professionals do not necessarily support this sentiment.



FIGURE 13. Business and professional perspectives on a delegated decision-making

framework: Responses of individuals from industry and practitioner-oriented & professional associations: The current approach to management and decisionmaking about water in B.C. would benefit from a framework that shares and in some cases delegates decision-making."

AGREE UNSURE DISAGREE
"And maybe it's an evolutionary thing. Maybe we're trying to jump to an assumed governance model, which is delegated and regional, before we've gotten much experience at doing it practically. A useful example is the B.C. Hydro water use planning process.... if you could work out some logical and rational way for people to have a voice... Without being the decisionmaker... a whole new governance structure requires money and capacity, and may not be something that can be sustained."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

What's the Best Scale?

While decision-making at the scale of the watershed might be desirable, some key informants suggested that it might not always be practical. One interviewee noted that with several thousand watersheds in B.C., it is not practical to have watershed governance for every sub-watershed. Rather, mid-sized, well-defined watersheds, such as the Cowichan^v or Okanagan Basin, might lend themselves to watershed governance. On the other hand, the Fraser River or Columbia River may not work for this governance model, given their large geographic size or trans-boundary nature.

"The choice of scale is really important. I don't think there's one answer to that question. But I think it's a choice you make when you look at watershed governance. There are over 200,000 unique blue lines on the map of British Columbia.... I don't think anyone's thinking that we need 200,000 watershed governance models."

INTERVIEWEE (PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGER)

"The choice of scale will define how the governance model shapes itself." INTERVIEWEE (PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGER)

A potential solution to this might involve a nested approach. Umbrella groups, like the Fraser Basin Council, Columbia Basin Trust, and the Gulf Islands Trust, could assist in capacity-building and coordination of smaller (nested) governance bodies in relevant sub-watersheds or in regions where various smaller coastal watersheds are clumped together (such as on the islands or along the coast).

However, the elected official interviewee asserted that governance at the watershed scale is critical to ensure that the public is effectively engaged and participating in watershed governance.

"[W]e have got this huge army of volunteers, I'm talking about a huge army of volunteers that are living in the Cowichan watershed, that are doing their part to make it a healthier watershed. We don't want to lose that and so you still need that smaller governance ... watershed-sized governance model to harness that human resource that you wouldn't get to the same degree if you had just strictly a regional model."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

v For further discussion about the Cowichan watershed, see Hunter, R. with Brandes, O.M., & Moore, M-L. (2014). *The Cowichan Watershed Board: An Evolution of Collaborative Watershed Governance*. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Available online: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/761.

At the First Nations' Roundtable, it was suggested that the boundaries of traditional territories or the community level were the most appropriate scales for governance.

"I agree with the territory approach for today and the next five years, but I think the long-term goal would be that it is community based. It's that family that lives on that river and next to that lake who has generations of knowledge from their ancestors about what it used to be and what it is now and what they want for future generations. That's where we should be headed towards for who governs in the watersheds."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

In contrast, the business community representative expressed concern about allowing communities to make decisions that may not reflect the broader public interest or larger jurisdictions that are affected by their decisions.

"[I]n an era of lack of trust in government and capacity constraints in government, people naturally turn to "my backyard" decision-making, but "my backyard" decision-making or "my community" decision-making doesn't consider the public interest trade-off that has to happen for jurisdiction that is larger than a community."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

Section Summary

There are many rich insights from the data that shed light on what watershed governance should like in British Columbia, including: clear consensus around the need for more collaborative approaches to watershed governance that engage local interests; strong support for co-governance approaches that facilitate shared decisionmaking with First Nations; and accompanying recognition of the significant barriers to enabling these approaches. Conversely, in some areas, the data was less clear. For instance, participants were unsure about the appropriate role of the private sector in watershed governance.

When it comes to decision-making authority, general support exists for the idea of delegating more authority to the local or watershed scale. Two important caveats emerging from this research are that:

- 1) this should not be used to justify downloading more responsibilities to local communities without sufficient resources; and,
- 2) there is the need for ongoing provincial oversight and accountability.

Uncertainties exist around how First Nations would engage in delegated decisionmaking, and perhaps a preference from a business perspective in maintaining centralized authority. With respect to the scale of decision-making, there is support for using the watershed scale but also recognition that this may not always be feasible depending on the size of the watershed. In some cases, more nested or integrated approaches may be needed. While this research provides important insights and helps deepen our collective understanding of what watershed governance should look like in B.C.—including revealing areas that require more discussion—the actual implementation of watershed governance will require new capacities and tools. Identifying these capacity needs was a core goal of this study. Opportunities for building capacity to undertake watershed governance are presented in the next two sections.

4.3 FINDINGS AND INSIGHTS: BUILDING CAPACITY TO MOVE FORWARD

Significant Appetite to be Involved in Watershed Governance

A large percentage of e-survey respondents revealed their interest in being actively involved in watershed governance. Twenty-four per cent of respondents indicated that they were interested in taking a *leadership role* in catalyzing discussions about watershed governance in their region; 39 per cent would like to be *actively involved* in a formal dialogue to pursue more formal watershed governance arrangements at a regional scale (e.g. roundtable, regular convening); more than half of the respondents (54 per cent) are interested in *providing input* to a local watershed entity (e.g. watershed board, council, trust); and 50 per cent want to be *engaged in province-wide conversations* about enabling watershed governance.



Challenges to Achieving Watershed Governance in B.C.

The key informants and First Nations' Roundtable collectively provided a long list of challenges, issues, and barriers to watershed governance, which have been categorized under six themes (see Box 5: *Challenges to Achieving Watershed Governance in B.C.*). Many of these themes echo the findings of earlier research reports.¹²

Conditions for Enabling Watershed Governance

An important theme in all of the discussions related to the conditions required to enable effective watershed governance. This major topic has been explored in some detail in various recent research reports.¹³ A number of enabling conditions (referred to as "winning conditions") have been identified in the general literature and are considered to be either "best practices" or "key principles" that together form the basis for a modern and effective watershed governance framework. In the e-survey, these winning conditions were tested to see if respondents agreed they are key priorities and whether additional conditions exist.

As outlined in Figure 15, there was high level of agreement with all of the practices and principles outlined in the survey question. There was proportionately less agreement for legislated responsibility for watershed entities, co-governance with First Nations, and independent oversight. This perhaps reflects some of the challenges, uncertainties, or concerns related to delegated authority noted in the previous chapter. However, more than three-quarters of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that these were effective elements of watershed governance.

VOID IN LEADERSHIP/LACK OF CLARITY IN ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	Questions remain around authority and capacity to lead watershed governance: Who pays? Who will share power and with whom? Is existing authority listening? Who is legitimate? Managing complex relationships: who do you bring together and how?
CAPACITY ISSUES	Insufficient or project-based funding; lack of capacity (time, human resources and money)
THE STATUS-QUO	Current governance structures are hard to break from (path dependency); there is currently an absence of an implemented regulatory framework to support ecological values
LACK OF UNDERSTANDING/ LACK OF CONTINUITY OF RELATIONSHIPS	Not enough public knowledge about water or human impacts on watershed health; lack of common language around water issues; lack of a shared purpose and vision; lack of continuity among key players and long-term interests
POLITICAL REALITIES	Existing political pressures and conflicting demands of politicians; slow pace of bureaucratic decision-making contrasted with short-term political pressures (both incompatible with collaborative processes)
FEARS	Fear of uncertainty; fear that undesired approach will be imposed

BOX 5: CHALLENGES TO ACHIEVING WATERSHED GOVERNANCE IN B.C.

FIGURE 15: Confirming "winning conditions for effective watershed governance" established in previous research: "The following practices or principles of effective watershed governance have been identified in research. Please say how much you agree or disagree that each is an effective element of watershed governance." **STRONGLY AGREE OR AGREE**



In the key informant interviews, several interviewees emphasized many of the same practices and principles outlined in the survey, including the need for: delegated authority, sustainable funding, engagement of local governments, a legislative framework that protects ecological values, peer-to-peer learning, and co-governance with First Nations.

In addition to these winning conditions, the key informants also indicated that the following conditions are needed to enable watershed governance in B.C.

1) EFFECTIVE GOVERNMENT-TO-GOVERNMENT RELATIONSHIPS

Two interviewees emphasized the need for effective and meaningful relationships and respectful dialogue between all levels of government, including First Nations. This sentiment was also highlighted in the First Nations' Roundtable discussions.

"[Provincial government and municipalities] need to support and listen to the First Nations and Indigenous governments and governance processes on the land, which means recognition. Because they don't understand the water and the land like we do—inherent knowledge—inherent collective knowledge that we have had. They just need to make that space. Our law and who we are and their Crown law is different—so that's where the problem is. With recognition—it is allowing us to be who we are but we have a big job to do to keep the water clean and keep the water healthy and keep the water flowing and keep that water cycle continuous. First Nations need to lead that process. They can't manage it sitting in Ottawa or Victoria."

2) IMPROVED COMMUNICATIONS ABOUT WATERSHED GOVERNANCE

The Professional Water Manager interviewee suggested that "we need better ways of communicating why this stuff is important," including better ways to talk about watershed governance.

3) WATERSHED PLANNING

Several respondents stated that watershed planning was the starting point to proactive dialogue. In particular, the key informant representing a First Nations' perspective suggested that Indigenous watershed planning is a critical first step for First Nations communities before they can productively contribute to co-governance discussions.

"I see this movement more as planning for how things are done as opposed to protesting against how things are done."

INTERVIEWEE (STEWARDSHIP)

"[T]he beginning is water use plans."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

"Being able to have that conversation is so key. And then, talk about co-governance, and then we'll be able to say "Well, this is how we feel and this is what we want." I'm sure at the end there's going to be a lot of commonalities. But the local knowledge, and the traditional knowledge, will only enhance any process that's developed, by making it more specific and respectful to that area."

INTERVIEWEE (FIRST NATIONS)

4) ENGAGED & EDUCATED CITIZENS

Several interviewees emphasized the need for people to actually value water and to give governments the mandate to engage in watershed governance initiatives.





Access to experts that can help answer questions or provide specific advice on watershed

Peer-to-peer learning events with others interested in watershed governance (e.g. workshops, conferences, webinars)

- Information on co-governance and how to build relationships/partnerships between Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities
- Information on how to build relationships/ partnerships with municipal/regional government
- 6 Information on how to build relationships/ partnerships with stewardship groups
- 6 Information on how to build relationships/ partnerships with industry

FIGURE 16. Exploring tools and services to support engagement in watershed governance:

"The following practices or principles of effective watershed governance have been identified in research. Please say how much you agree or disagree that each is an effective element of watershed governance."

5) COURAGEOUS LEADERSHIP & CAPACITY

A number of interviewees highlighted the importance of strong leadership, as well as the capacity to support leaders with necessary tools and resources, such as skilled facilitation.

"We have to have the courage to do something different.... It will take a steady hand or hands at the table to take us from where we're at to the future, and it takes a willingness to take great risk because we're going to a place that we haven't been before."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

"What do I wish we had?' I wish we had the framework up-front, all the principles ... How to do objectives setting, what we mean by performance measures.... facilitators, skilled facilitation who have no stake in the outcome, is key. That's really important. They have to be neutral."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

Capacity Needs & Priorities

The e-survey revealed a broad range of capacity needs and priorities that respondents identified as beneficial to supporting their desired level of activity in watershed governance. These can be divided into 1) relationship-building needs, and 2) priority tools and services.

1) RELATIONSHIP-BUILDING NEEDS

The survey presented a range of different capacity opportunities related to relationship-building, including access to experts, peer-to-peer learning, and information on how to build relationships with Indigenous communities, governments and other key sectors. Although each of the items presented are generally seen as helpful, it is worth noting that more than 80 per cent of respondents identified access to experts, peer-to-peer learning events, and building relationships/partnerships between Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities as either very helpful or helpful.

2) PRIORITY TOOLS & SERVICES

There is a high level of desire for a range of tools and services. More than 80 per cent of respondents identified information or guidance on sustainable funding, monitoring and cumulative impacts assessment, case studies of watershed governance examples in other regions, and education and coaching on principles or models of watershed governance, as either very helpful or helpful. These results reinforce that there is strong interest in involvement in watershed governance and access to practical tools and services that can support that involvement.

In addition to the e-survey responses, the interviews and First Nations' Roundtable also revealed a number of specific needs, tools, and services that would support improved watershed governance in B.C. The research team collated over fifty ideas

32 ILLUMINATION



Information or guidance on sustainable funding for watershed governance initiatives

Information or guidance on monitoring and assessing cumulative impacts

6 Case studies of watershed governance examples in other regions

More education and coaching on principles or models of watershed governance

More practical resources or guidebooks on how to implement watershed-scale management/governance

FIGURE 17. Additional priority tools and services to build capacity for watershed governance

VERY HELPFUL HELPFUL

that they heard from participants in a summary table (see Appendix 2). Suggestions ranged from ideas about how technical and scientific gaps could be addressed (such as open-access water data centres) to identification of planning and communication needs (such as community watershed planning tools). Altogether, these suggestions provide valuable insights into watershed governance capacity needs across the province that should assist capacity-building organizations, funders and governments as they consider how they might support watershed governance going forward.

Section Summary

This study has revealed a substantial appetite from a broad range of sectors for being involved in collaborative watershed governance. This interest ranges from playing a leadership role in a watershed governance process or entity, to coordinating informal discussions about watershed governance, to providing input to a local watershed authority or broader provincial discussions.

At the same time, it is clear that moving forward on watershed governance is not a simple task. This study highlighted a number of challenges along with a substantial list of pre-conditions for success. The data confirmed the importance of previouslyidentified winning conditions for watershed governance, but also pointed to a number of other conditions deemed necessary for successful watershed governance. Significant capacity needs will need to be addressed in order to meet these conditions and prepare various actors to effectively lead, participate in, and support watershed governance. These needs include building relationships between sectors, peer-topeer learning and having access to expert advice, as well as a broad range of tools and services related to implementing and sustaining watershed governance.

The next section of this report builds on these findings by outlining the level of support for a province-wide capacity-building entity that could help address some of these capacity needs and build a community of practice. The section considers what such a watershed governance hub might look like and reveals insights into the potential challenges and opportunities that might arise with the creation of such an organization.

4.4 FINDINGS AND INSIGHTS: DOES B.C. NEED A WATERSHED GOVERNANCE HUB?

The data collected through this study deepens the understanding of capacity needs and potential services that have been identified more generally in previous studies. For instance, one of the main conclusions coming out of the 2013 *The State of the Water Movement in B.C.* report was the need for "institutional infrastructure" to help target and address these needs and services.^{vi} One of the goals of this study was to further test if there is interest in the creation of province-wide "infrastructure" to promote, encourage, and support the creation and implementation of watershed governance across B.C., and to scope what this "infrastructure" might look like.

General Support for a Province-wide Capacity-builder Hub

Two-thirds of e-survey respondents indicated that they did see value in a provincewide organization that could serve as a central capacity-builder for watershed governance. Only eight per cent indicated that they did not see any value in such an organization, and the remainder of respondents were uncertain or wanted to better understand what was being proposed.

The perceived value of a province-wide capacity-builder was consistent across sectors. For instance, 62 per cent of local government respondents and 68 per cent of industry respondents indicated they saw the value.



FIGURE 18. Support for a province-wide capacity-building organization: "Do you see value in a province-wide organization that could serve as a central capacity builder to promote, encourage and/or support watershed governance across B.C.?"





SECTORAL BREAKDOWNS

vi *The State of the Water Movement* states (page 43): "This infrastructure should be designed to make it as easy as possible for organizations, especially those working locally or regionally, to come together, learn from one another, implement new capacities and collaborate around collective priorities." See Morris, T. & Brandes, O.M. (2013). *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia*. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria and B.C. Real Estate Foundation. Available online: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561. Twenty-six per cent of respondents indicated "maybe" with regards to seeing value in a province-wide capacity-building organization, with very similar levels of support across all sectors. Numerous comments suggested that the value depended on a more detailed description about the organization, especially its mandate or operation. Some also indicated that they felt existing organizations were already playing this role or could easily broaden their current scope to assume this type of role.

General support for the idea of a province-wide capacity-building organization was also evident from the interviews.

"Certainly ... I think it's needed, absolutely. Your question was, 'Is it needed?" The answer is 'Yes, it is.""

INTERVIEWEE (PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGER)

"I think that's a great idea. I think the Okanagan has stood in for that, in some respects, and I think it's high time that it was actually an authentically provincial initiative."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

What Would a Capacity-Building Organization Do?

In general, e-survey respondents were most supportive of the provincial organization being "a bridge between senior government, local communities, and First Nations seeking to implement watershed governance." Three-quarters of respondents also thought that an entity that performed the function of a "province-wide voice for local watershed governance entities and proponents" would be either helpful or very helpful. Comparatively, there was less support for an advocacy role for such a body, although 56 per cent of respondents still indicated this would be helpful or very helpful.

One interviewee made a distinction between an *enabling* body and a new watershed management body.

"I see something there where you may even help build capacity with money that helps build planning as opposed to fixes things. And you may expect to orchestrate some of these other agencies that are there that are handing money out, but want them to be leveraged. I think you could do some really good things out there."

INTERVIEWEE (STEWARDSHIP)

A bridge between senior government, local communities, and First Nations seeking to implement watershed governance

A province-wide voice for local watershed governance entities and proponents

An entity that could advocate for improved water management/governance on my or my organization's behalf

FIGURE 19. Potential roles for a province-wide capacitybuilding organization:

"A bridge between senior government, local communities, and First Nations seeking to implement watershed governance; a province-wide voice for local watershed governance entities and proponents; an entity that could advocate for improved water management/ governance on my or my organization's behalf."





FIGURE 20. Leadership and structure of a province-wide

organization: *"Please choose the statement that, in your opinion, best completes the following sentence: A central, province-wide capacity-building organization for watershed governance should be..."*

63%	A collaborative entity formed by the provincial government, First Nations, community interests, and industry
11% Co-governed by First Nations and the provincial government	
10% An independent non-profit organization	
8% A provincial government-led initiative	
8% Other	

A number of potential key functions for such an enabling body emerged from the informant interviews, including:

- a central repository to support local initiatives;
- an aid in collective learning about watershed governance; and
- a champion to advance freshwater protection.

In addition to these high-level functions, interviewees identified a broad range of tools and services such an entity could provide (see Box 6: *Possible Functions and Services Identified by Informants*).

BOX 6: POSSIBLE FUNCTIONS AND SERVICES FOR A PROVINCE-WIDE CAPACITY-BUILDING ORGANIZATION IDENTIFIED BY INFORMANTS

- Convening and coordinating function (e.g. annual watershed governance conference and capacity-building webinars)
- Central repository or library for resources, tools, best practices and lessons learned
- Evaluation of tools to support watershed governance
- · Provincial representation of watershed governance entities/initiatives
- · Education and communication (e.g. primers, curriculum)
- · Collective learning, community of practice
- Technical and legal advice
- Supports for planning
- Leverages funding
- Provides models of collaboration and co-governance
- Shares success stories

Insights on Organizational Structure

The e-survey findings reveal strong support for a collaborative entity formed by the provincial government, First Nations, community interests, and industry. There was less support for a purely provincial-led initiative or an independent non-profit organization.

1) AN ARMS-LENGTH, PROVINCIALLY-SUPPORTED ORGANIZATION

A number of e-survey comments recognized that such an organization could be enabled by the provincial government and would benefit from a Provincial mandate and resources, but emphasized that it should be arms-length from the Province.

"It does need to have some agency-level authority to it, but at arm's reach of the Province."

SURVEY COMMENT

"Co-governed by First Nations, water advocacy groups, and municipal/local governments; arm's length from government (funded but not governed)."

SURVEY COMMENT

These comments were echoed by interviewees, who still recognized the critical role the provincial government would need to play.

"[W]e've always said, 'Look, we don't want the Province to disappear. We need them if we're going to do this.' ... We can't each do it on our own, we need to have that central repository of scientific research and resources, both technical advice as well as legal advice, to help guide us."

INTERVIEWEE (ELECTED LEADERSHIP)

One interviewee was less supportive of an arms-length entity and expressed concerns that an independent organization would create uncertainty that would impact business decisions.

"[I]t's the idea of creating an entity that then needs to be funded makes the business community nervous.... Where does the money come from? What do they actually do in terms of decision-making? Who is it accountable to? Who makes the trade-offs and at what scale?"

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

2) FIRST NATIONS' PARTICIPATION AND LEADERSHIP WILL BE CRITICAL INGREDIENTS FOR ULTIMATE AND LASTING SUCCESS

A number of key informant interviewees commented that they felt that First Nations should be involved from the outset to ensure that any new organization advances the principle of co-governance and fosters trust between First Nations and non-Indigenous communities. It was suggested that it would be helpful to bring together a group of First Nations water leaders from around the province to provide guidance around how a province-wide organization should be structured, and to identify what is needed to make it effective in building capacity.

3) SHOULD IT HAVE ANY AUTHORITY OR DECISION-MAKING RESPONSIBILITIES?

The e-survey and interviews also explored whether a central, province-wide capacitybuilding organization should potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities regarding water management in B.C. Sixty-five per cent of e-survey respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that, yes, the organization should potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities. However, both e-survey comments and interviewees revealed a number of concerns with such an entity having decision-making power. These concerns are identified in the following "potential challenges" section.

What are the Potential Benefits and Challenges?

POTENTIAL BENEFITS

Potential benefits of a capacity-building hub organization included the possibility for greater coordination and efficiency, and the creation of a vehicle to help promote learning and understanding of how to build effective local watershed governance initiatives. These benefits were articulated by interviewees and First Nations' Roundtable participants.

"That sounds like an excellent idea. It coordinates the efforts, it ensures the efforts are going in the right direction."

INTERVIEWEE (STEWARDSHIP)

"It could include wider scope, to help understand and learn what's happening in other regions ... in terms of data, but also in terms of the structures, how are things working in other regions, with regards to water management decisions. I think the Province could definitely spearhead that." INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

"[T]hat would bring a certain amount of efficiency to the process, that's for sure. There's going to be a large degree of all of us doing our own thing. But there's no reason we shouldn't be able to collectively come up with some approaches. And you can't really do that without somebody who's in place to carry that out, on topic and continually working on it. So yes, having a group that would coalesce ideas, promote discussion, makes sense."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)



FIGURE 21. Should a provincewide capacity-building organization potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities?

"Please state how much you agree or disagree that such a central, province-wide capacity-building organization should potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities regarding water management in B.C."



POTENTIAL CHALLENGES

A number of potential challenges and issues related to a province-wide organization were raised by interviewees and First Nations' Roundtable participants.

1) IMPACT ON GOVERNMENT-TO-GOVERNMENT DIALOGUE

Participants at the Roundtable were concerned about how such an entity would impact government-to-government dialogue between First Nations and the provincial government. It was also raised that the entity could be used by the Province as a mechanism to avoid its full responsibilities of consultation and accommodation. There was, however, greater comfort at the Roundtable around the idea of an organization that was performing an educational and information-providing role, as long as it did not have a political purpose.

"Concern that [such a provincial body] would be a way for the Province to avoid its consultation duties ..."

FIRST NATIONS ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

"If it is an educational tool that would help us move some initiatives forward. Each sub-regional group within B.C. could have its own website. First Nations Fisheries Council has one that is province-wide ... If it's for decision-making and politics and whatnot then we have to go to the leadership to make sure they make the right decisions, but for the help of getting knowledge about what's happening in B.C.—what's successful or not successful—I think it's valid."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

2) TENSION WITH DUTY TO CONSULT

The First Nations' Roundtable also revealed serious reservations around a provincewide organization conflicting with the Province's fiduciary duty to consult.

"I think we all recognize the autonomy and the entity of each of the First Nations. One of the challenges that we have with any organization is that federal and provincial governments will go to that hub and then make decisions without collaborating with the First Nation.... I wouldn't want the hub to start negotiating on behalf of First Nations. That's what takes place. That's the challenge that we have."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

3) DIVERT FUNDING

Participants at the First Nations' Roundtable also shared concerns about how such an entity would be funded. If funded by the provincial government, there was concern that the Province would consider this adequate resourcing for First Nations and delegate funding responsibility to that entity. There was also concern that the organization would divert scarce resources from existing or potential First Nations activities. "The Province will resource a hub and create a one-stop-shop for access to information and resources and then they will say, 'We resourced the hub, you have to go through there."

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

"A First Nation wants to apply for fiscal resources to build its capacity in their community, they will **run up against the hub.**"

FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE PARTICIPANT

4) CONCERNS WITH CREATING A PROVINCE-WIDE DECISION-MAKING ORGANIZATION

Concerns were also raised about the implications of the province-wide organization exercising decision-making authority. Although there was support (65 per cent) for the notion that a province-wide capacity-building organization should potentially hold some decision-making responsibilities, e-survey comments revealed that there were a number of concerns with this approach. These included creating another layer of bureaucracy; causing confusion about who is making decisions; undermining the idea of local decision-making; and raising questions of democratic accountability. A number of respondents drew a distinction between the role of a capacity-builder, which they saw as important and necessary, and a decision-maker, which was seen as less desirable.

"Capacity-building is different from having legislated decision-making responsibilities. Seems like a departure from local decision-making that has been lauded as a big fix to the current governance issues."

SURVEY COMMENT

"This should be a support/stakeholder group acting in an advisory/ educational/cooperative capacity, but should have some clout to be listened to by various government jurisdictions."

SURVEY COMMENT

"The organization should be focused on developing capacity, governance and assist in creating processes for gathering sound, rigorous data that then goes to decision-makers. There is a risk that the organization may be seen as fettering decisions, which could compromise the integrity of the organization." SURVEY COMMENT

The interviews also revealed concerns with such an organization taking on decisionmaking or specific management powers.

"I don't favour creating another level of management."

INTERVIEWEE (PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGER)

"If anything is too top-heavy, it's just simply not going to work, especially on the local level."

INTERVIEWEE (WATERSHED BOARD & FIRST NATIONS)

"I don't think the regulatory piece would be a good thing. I don't see them as a provincial arm, so much as a guidance group, if you like—just to give us a place to go to ask questions and see what's going on in the rest of the province, and get some assistance with contacts."

INTERVIEWEE (LOCAL GOVERNMENT)

"A non-profit organization with some kind of authority to direct resource management? **That's not going to get any support.**"

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

"Do you need to form something that has an institutional name with people and all of that? Businesses are concerned about the cost, duplication and efficiency of yet another organization."

INTERVIEWEE (BUSINESS COMMUNITY)

Section Summary

We found that general support exists for a province-wide capacity-building organization. Data revealed a number of the potential ways in which a province-wide organization could enhance the work being undertaken in collaborative watershed governance initiatives across B.C. E-survey respondents, interviewees, and participants in the First Nations' Roundtable also flagged potential concerns and challenges that might arise with a province-wide organization.

5. Conclusions & Next Steps

esearch of this type will never provide total clarity; however, a number of key themes have revealed themselves through this study. In particular, analysis of the responses and insights and perspectives from this study demonstrates significant areas of common interest and consensus, and also some areas of divergence. We have distilled these themes into the following five core findings:

- · Appetite exists for new approaches to watershed governance
- · Collaborative approaches are seen as critical for better decision-making
- There are multiple stages to collaborative watershed governance
- The provision of key capacities and tools will increase the likelihood of success
- A potential role has emerged for a province-wide capacity-builder

1) Appetite Exists for New Approaches to Watershed Governance

Interest in new approaches to watershed governance stems largely from the belief, shared across all sectors, that the current approach to both management and governance of fresh water is unsatisfactory. Provincial and federal governments are seen to be retreating from their traditional monitoring, research, and enforcement roles, while communities are being left "in the dark", only able to react to growing threats to their watersheds. The findings reveal that civil society, First Nations, water professionals, and communities have significant interest in playing more active roles in key decisions that affect local waters, and participating in new forms of watershed governance.

2) Collaborative Approaches are seen as Critical for Better Decision-making

Collaboration is seen as bringing many benefits. These include: integration of diverse knowledge sources, facilitating innovative funding partnerships, unleashing local expertise and on-the-ground knowledge, and harnessing the human resource

capacities residing in local volunteers and citizens. For collaboration initiatives to be effective and meaningful, participants indicated they must be strongly supported by First Nations, either as partners, or through explicit co-governance arrangements. Importantly, participants felt the provincial government should be part of such collaborative initiatives. There is recognition that more government involvement and leadership is required to enable effective collaborative models (see Appendix 2 for a specific listing of capacity needs).

3) There are Multiple Stages to Collaborative Watershed Governance

Based on the input received, it is clear that there is not one right or single governance model or scale of governance that is going to be applicable across the province. The most appropriate level and scale for decision-making will likely depend on the interplay of a variety of factors and contexts, including the interests of local actors; population and geographic realities; the maturity of existing collaboration and collaborative platforms; the role, leadership, and capacity of provincial, First Nations, and local governments; and the type of decisions that need to be made.

Notwithstanding these contextual factors, an important insight from this study is that a series of common stages for watershed governance exists. Collaborative watershed governance is an evolving and organic process and "stepping stones" lead towards more formal models of engagement and authority. These stepping stones are outlined here and show how collaborative watershed governance may evolve from a nascent stage, based on informal collaboration around projects, to a more formal and mature stage, reflected in an entity that is capable of taking on delegated decisionmaking authority.

- Project-Based Collaboration collaboration around projects such as restoration or water quality monitoring can allow local participants to develop relationships, build trust, and discover a common appreciation for their watershed.
- 2) Shared Visioning once relationships are established and there is common understanding of some of the challenges and opportunities in the watershed, local partners are better placed to co-create a shared vision for their watershed. This is also an opportunity to engage additional actors.
- **3) Collaborative Watershed Planning** developing a shared vision can provide the impetus to develop a watershed plan that outlines the milestones and actions required to meet that vision.
- 4) **Delegated Decision-Making** with a broad base of support and legitimacy, a track-record of achieving substantive work, and a clear watershed plan, a collaborative entity is well-placed to seek more formal agreements regarding shared decision-making powers, authority, and financial responsibilities.





FIGURE 22. Stepping Stones Approach to Watershed Governance. INFOGRAPHIC BY MARCI JANECEK

4) The Provision of Key Capacities and Tools will Increase the Likelihood of Success

The findings from this study confirm an assumption that there are significant capacity needs and gaps that will need to be addressed in order to harness the energy and enthusiasm for watershed governance while overcoming challenges and establishing the conditions required for success. These needs include relationship-building between different sectors and with experts and knowledge-holders, as well as services and tools that can support capacity development in areas such as sustainable funding, monitoring, watershed planning and communications. One of the key outcomes of this project has been the rich inventory of capacity needs related to watershed governance. This inventory provides concrete guidance on what is needed for the freshwater community to be successful in these new approaches (See Appendix 2).

5) A Potential Role has Emerged for a Province-wide Capacity-builder

This research explored whether there might be a role for a province-wide capacitybuilding organization to help address capacity gaps and provide leadership on watershed governance. The study revealed general support for such a province-wide capacity-building body, and identified potential benefits and challenges. Of particular importance are the concerns raised by First Nations' Roundtable participants, including the issue of how such a body would be resourced, and the need to limit its role in government-to-government negotiations between First Nations and the Province. Interviewees also emphasized that a province-wide organization should focus on capacity-building and supporting local watershed governance initiatives, and should not necessarily be a decision-making institution.

NEXT STEPS: UPCOMING OPTIONS PAPER

In addition to this detailed analysis, this research provides the foundation for a complementary options paper. Findings from this study emphasize that further discussion and exploration of how watershed governance can operate practically in B.C. is urgently needed. The options paper will identify specific institutional and operational possibilities for better enabling watershed governance going forward. The watershed governance options paper will identify potential roles and responsibilities for key actors including First Nations, all levels of government, civil society, the business community, water professionals, and experts. It will be a resource for water leaders and champions to engage with and to help accelerate the necessary institution building required for effective watershed governance in B.C. This options paper will be tested and refined at a series of workshops and public presentations, culminating in a refined document to be released in 2016.

APPENDIX 1: TIMELINE OF KEY WATERSHED GOVERNANCE RESEARCH AND EVENTS IN B.C.

2007-2010

2005	At a Watershed: Ecological Governance and Sustainable Water Management in Canada ¹	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance
2007	Delegated Water Governance: Issues and Challenges in the B.C. Context ²	University of British Columbia, Program on Water Governance
2008	Living Water Smart Policy ³	British Columbia Ministry of Environment
2008	3Collaborative Watershed Governance Initiative Workshop Series4Fraser Basin Council (lead, on behalf of the B.C. Water Governance Project)	
2008	Going with the Flow? Evolving Water Allocations and the Potential and Limits of Water Markets in Canada ⁵	Conference Board of Canada
2009	British Columbia's <i>Water Act</i> Modernization Discussion Paper ⁶	British Columbia Ministry of Environment
2009	Setting a New Course in British Columbia— Water Governance Reform Options and Opportunities: Discussion Paper ⁷	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance
2009	The Sustainable Management of Groundwater in Canada: The Expert Panel on Groundwater ⁸	Council of Canadian Academies
2010	An Audit of the Management of Groundwater Resources in British Columbia ⁹	Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia

2011-2013

2011	Governance Toolkit: Water, Part 1, Section 3.31 ¹⁰	B.C. Assembly of First Nations
2011 First Nations Integrated Watershed Planning Centre for Indigenous Environmental Resources Guidebooks ¹¹ Guidebooks ¹¹ Guidebooks ¹¹		Centre for Indigenous Environmental Resources
2011	Canada's Rivers At Risk: Environmental Flows and Canada's Freshwater Future ¹²	WWF-Canada
2011	Climate Change Adaptation and Water Governance ¹³	Simon Fraser University (Adaptation to Climate Change Team)

46 ILLUMINATION

2012	A Water Gathering: Collaborative Watershed Governance in B.C. and Beyond—Solutions Forum ¹⁴	Co-hosted by: British Columbia Ministry of Environment; Fraser Basin Council; Living Lakes Canada; Okanagan Basin Water Board; The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance; The Summit Group; Water, Policy and Governance Group; Wildsight
2012	A Collaborative Watershed Governance Accord for B.C. $^{\rm 15}$	Fraser Basin Council
2012	National First Nations Water Rights Strategy ¹⁶	Assembly of First Nations
2013	A Water Sustainability Act for B.C. Legislative Proposal ¹⁷	Province of British Columbia
2013	The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia ^{18,27}	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance and B.C. Real Estate Foundation
2013	The Blue Paper: Water Co-Governance in Canada ¹⁹	Forum for Leadership on Water (FLOW)

2014-2015

2014	A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia ²⁰	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance
2014	Water for Fish Brochure: a Framework for Effective Water Management ²¹	First Nations Fisheries Council
2014	Community Watersheds: from Objectives to Results on the Ground ²²	Forest Practices Board
2014	Living Waters Rally and "Statement for Freshwater Protection" ²³	Canadian Freshwater Alliance
2014	Watersheds 2014: Towards Watershed Governance in British Columbia and Beyond ²⁴	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, Cowichan Tribes, and Partners
2015	California's Oranges and B.C.'s Apples? Lessons for B.C. from California Groundwater Reform ²⁵	The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance and Ecojustice
2015	Advancing Watershed Sustainability in B.C. ²⁶	Fraser Basin Council and B.C. Wildlife Federation project (2013-2015)

APPENDIX 2: TOOLS AND SERVICES TO BUILD CAPACITY FOR WATERSHED GOVERNANCE IN B.C.

This table is based on a collation of the data and provides a summary of tools and services to build capacity for watershed governance in B.C. These needs were also captured in an infographic (see below).

CAPACITY NEEDS	EXAMPLES OF TOOLS AND SERVICES ARISING FROM THE DATA
TOOLKITS	 Regulatory options Sustainable funding toolkit Data collection and monitoring options Policies and by-laws toolkit Terms of reference, operating rules, principles (framework) How to do objectives/target setting and performance measure
GUIDES, EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES & TEACHING TOOLS	 Community watershed planning tools and resources (e.g. principles, objective setting, evaluation, and metrics) Community engagement and resources for volunteers Governance structures Process-oriented resources (not outcome-oriented) Charrette-style training for collaborative problem-solving Watershed planning guidebooks Plain language educational tools Teaching tools for community regarding water conservation, watershed health, community monitoring Teaching tools for municipalities and non-First Nations regarding First Nations history, values, principles, and laws regarding watershed protection as well as First Nations contributions to the economy Informational tool or map about all First Nations and their territories Guides for the private sector (e.g. agriculture, mining, ATV recreation) Youth leadership programs First Nations Elder and youth forums
COMMUNICATIONS GUIDANCE	 Effective communication of issues Common language Communication tools for youth (e.g. social media) Communication tools geared for different audiences (e.g. community, neighbouring communities, municipalities, private sector, government)

48 ILLUMINATION

CAPACITY NEEDS	EXAMPLES OF TOOLS AND SERVICES ARISING FROM THE DATA		
BEST PRACTICES & LESSONS LEARNED	 Collaborative frameworks and watershed governance models Evaluation of tools and resources Made-in-B.C. best practices for business communities (e.g. agriculture, forestry, domestic water use) Winning conditions of co-governance Case studies and examples from other communities—both success stories and lessons learned from past mistakes 		
MODELS	Hydrologic modeling Scenario modeling		
LAWS	Legal analysis of cases regarding water in B.C. and Canada		
PROCESSES	 Respectful processes for decision-making around cumulative impacts Information regarding memoranda of understanding and protocol agreements between First Nations and non-First Nations 		
EXPERTS & FACILITATORS	 Coaches, advisors, consultants, champions, academics Skilled neutral facilitators to help build bridges between communities Experts: engineers, biologists, and economists who understand water Independent experts to help translate technical information into plain language 		
PEER-TO-PEER LEARNING	 Regular convening on watershed governance Webinars and forums to further co-governance conversation Internal discussion and peer-to-peer learning among First Nations communities 		
DATA & INFORMATION ABOUT WATERSHED HEALTH• Open-access water data centres (i.e. water-use reporting tools, hydrometric quality information) • More monitoring stations • Information exchange with municipalities • Reports on issues like bio-solids within watersheds • A user-friendly tool to see information and permits on watershed (e.g. No Tool)			
CENTRAL REPOSITORY	A place to house tools and resources		
FUNDING	 Funding to create First Nations water boards, training staff, and developing watershed plans Sustainable funding mechanisms, tools, and resources 		



APPENDIX 3: DETAILED RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

What We Were Thinking

ith any study of this type, it is important to acknowledge the assumptions that guided the framework of the research and types of questions asked. Below are some of the core assumptions we sought to test through this process, all of which have been informed by our previous studies and engagement with practitioners:

- 1. There is a broad range of governments, organizations, and sectors working on water and watersheds in B.C. that fulfill different roles and work at different geographies and scales.
- 2. There is a need for new forms of delegated watershed governance to move key aspects of decision-making around water to more local watershed scales. This will ensure better protection of the necessary watershed health and better align with First Nations and community values.
- 3. There are a number of organizations in different regions that have selforganized at the watershed scale to engage in watershed-based decision-making/ governance, but most remain in early phases of development and rely on more informal influence rather than direct decision-making powers.
- 4. There is a need for greater citizen engagement and political awareness regarding water issues. A nascent appetite for citizens and communities to be more meaningfully engaged is emerging.
- 5. B.C. has a window of opportunity to move forward with the new provincial water policy (and law reform) that could enable new forms of watershed governance.
- 6. Water organizations working at local, regional, and provincial scales are not wellconnected and there is currently limited peer-to-peer sharing of knowledge or resources. Yet, most groups have similar needs and indicated priorities to build capacity and increase their effectiveness. Opportunities for economies of scale and scope related to these common challenges are emerging.
- 7. There is a need for greater coordination, peer learning, and alignment of interests amongst water organizations and other organizations that have an interest in fresh water. To address this need, a focused effort is needed to identify the organization(s) and/or mechanisms and/or set of activities that can support this function.
- 8. Governments at all levels have an essential role in watershed protection and must remain key players in working with civil society and water users to foster

watershed governance. However, it is important to recognize that government has critical capacity challenges that are worth acknowledging in order to identify areas of maximum impact.

9. Functioning watershed governance entities (or bodies), which require First Nations' participation in design and leadership, will support implementation of the *WSA* (and other complementing water laws and local watershed plans).

Methods for Finding Out What the Freshwater Community is Thinking

We used the following research methods to test our assumptions and gather data and insight from the broader community of interests that operate in the space of freshwater management, use, and stewardship.

1. KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWS

Eight informant interviews were conducted with watershed governance thought leaders who were selected by the Project Team to provide insights from seven key sectors. The purpose of the interviews was:

- i) To test and confirm the assumptions upon which this project was based (as outlined above);
- ii) To deepen our collective understanding about the needs and challenges facing local government, First Nations, provincial governments, stewardship groups, industry and professional associations, and the freshwater community in general with respect to strengthening local watershed governance;
- iii) To identify the concrete tools, resources and support networks needed to support watershed governance initiatives; and
- iv) To test whether there is a need for a province-wide capacity-building organization to coordinate and amplify the activities of local watershed entities.

Each interview lasted approximately one hour. Two were conducted in person and the remainder were conducted by phone. In advance of each interview, each informant was sent an Interview Guide, which outlined the purpose of the research project and included several questions organized by theme (see Appendix A: Interview Discussion Guide Template). All interviews were recorded and the interviewer reviewed the transcripts in the process of creating this report. Data was then coded to establish key themes. Throughout this report, a number of quotes from these conversations have been included to provide insight and depth from the informants' various perspectives.

Collectively, the information gathered from this set of interviews, coupled with feedback and conclusions from *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia* report,²⁷ provided valuable insights and gave us a strong foundation to create the detailed survey that followed.

TABLE 1: INTERVIEWEES^{VII}

SECTOR/ PERSPECTIVE	INTERVIEWEE	POSITION/ORGANIZATION	DATE INTERVIEWED
STEWARDSHIP Wayne Salewski		Chair, Murray Creek Stream Restoration group and founding Director of the Nechako Environment and Water Stewardship Society (NEWSS); former Alderman, Vanderhoof; former Habitat Sustainability Chair for the B.C. Wildlife Federation	Dec 4, 2014
PROFESSIONAL WATER MANAGERS	Jim Mattison	President, BCWWA; Former B.C. Comptroller of Water Rights	Dec 5,2014
BUSINESS COMMUNITY	Denise Mullen	Director, Environment & Sustainability, Business Council of B.C.	Dec 8, 2014
WATERSHED BOARD Tim Kulchyski & FIRST NATIONS		Natural Resources Consultant, Cowichan Watershed Board (Cowichan Tribes)	Dec 11, 2014 (In Person)
ELECTED Rob Hutchins		Councillor, Ladysmith, Former Chair, Cowichan Valley Regional District, Former Co-Chair, Cowichan Watershed Board	Dec 11, 2014 (In Person)
LOCAL GOVERNMENT	Mike Donnelly (1) Julie Pisani (2)	Manager of Water & Utility Services at Regional District of Nanaimo Drinking Water and Watershed Protection Program Coordinator at Regional District of Nanaimo	Jan 2, 2015 Dec 12, 2014
FIRST NATIONS	Carrie Terbasket	Syilx Special Project Liaison, Okanagan Nation Alliance	Jan 9,2015

2. FIRST NATIONS' ROUNDTABLE

A dialogue involving six First Nations water leaders was convened for a half-day roundtable discussion in Vancouver on April 27th, 2015. The participants were identified and invited by the First Nations Fisheries Council based on their experience with water issues. Each participant was invited to participate as an individual because of their unique interest and expertise in this area, not as a representative of their community or organization. The participants were:

- Thomas Alexis;
- Cora McIntosh;
- Dan Smith;
- Tessa Terbasket;
- · Chief Judy Wilson; and
- Tracy Wimbush.
- vii All of the informants interviewed for this project were familiar with *The State of the Water Movement* report (July 2013) and all but two had attended the *Watersheds 2014* forum in Duncan, B.C. in January 2014. Several, but not all, of the interviewees were also familiar with the POLIS publication A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia (January 2014; see http://poliswaterproject.org/blueprint).

The objectives of the First Nations' Roundtable were:

- To better understand the needs and challenges being faced by First Nations with respect to strengthening and enhancing local watershed governance; and
- To enhance our collective understanding of the tools, resources, and support networks needed to help drive and better operationalize watershed governance throughout British Columbia.

The session was recorded and the roundtable organizer reviewed the transcript in the process of creating this report. All quotations and reporting on the roundtable have been confirmed with the participants. Similar to the informant interviews, a number of quotes associated with the roundtable are used throughout the report to offer further insight and depth into the topics explored.

3. ELECTRONIC SURVEY

Using the online survey platform SMP Survey, a detailed electronic survey (e-survey) was distributed to an estimated 1,500 recipients working in freshwater management, stewardship, or decision-making across British Columbia. This included over 900 unique recipients chosen from a diversity of backgrounds based on their previous experience in freshwater management, governance, or stewardship. Recipients included individuals in local government, First Nations, provincial government, federal government, stewardship groups, industry, professional associations, and the freshwater community in general. In addition, the e-survey was distributed to over 2,500 other recipients via eight partner "distribution hubs."^{viii} These distribution hubs included organizations, associations, and networks that circulated the e-survey to their memberships through outlets such as e-newsletters, list-serves, Facebook, or mass emails.

The e-survey was made available for approximately one month, from March to April 2015. In total, 439 individuals working in watersheds all across the province completed the e-survey (an 11% response rate). This completion and response rate indicated a high level of general interest in the topic, which was further demonstrated by the high level of additional supplemental commentary associated with many of the e-survey questions. A total of approximately 1,500 comments were provided, in addition to the specific multiple-choice answers.

viii The e-survey distribution partners were representatives from the B.C. Business Council, B.C. Ministry of Environment, Canadian Freshwater Alliance, Environment Canada's Ecosystem Partnerships Program, First Nations Fisheries Council, Partnership for Water Sustainability in B.C., Regional District of Nanaimo, and the University of Victoria's Faculty of Law.

54 ILLUMINATION



Interview Discussion Guide Template

WATERSHED GOVERNANCE LEADERS INTERVIEW DISCUSSION GUIDE

This interview is being done by the **POLIS Project on Ecological Governance at the University of Victoria (POLIS Project)** as part of a larger, practical exploration of the possibilities and opportunities related to **Watershed Governance in British Columbia**. This project intends to build off *The State of the Water Movement* (2013) and is being supported through a grant from the **Real Estate Foundation of BC (REFBC)**.

BACKGROUND

In British Columbia, it is increasingly clear that watershed governance is a desirable and feasible option for improving leadership and institutional capacity for freshwater protection across the province. This opportunity for improving governance has been articulated in a range of recent publications and events including British Columbia's *Living Water Smart* Provincial Water Policy (2008)^{ix}, *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia* report (2013)^x and the three-day national forum *Watersheds 2014: Towards Watershed Governance in British Columbia and Beyond* (January 2014)^{xi}. Functioning governance bodies at the watershed scale will also improve opportunities to implement B.C.'s new *Water Sustainability Act*. Despite recognition from all levels of government and across sectors that watershed governance will be an inevitable part of the B.C. landscape in the future, there are relatively few instances of robust watershed governance examples in operation currently in the province.

OBJECTIVES

The goal of this project is to identify some of the practical considerations of what is needed to ensure better decisions at the watershed scale. We want to bring to light the specific needs of and challenges being faced by local government, First Nations, provincial government, stewardship groups, industry and professional associations, and the freshwater community in general with respect to strengthening and enhancing local watershed governance in the context of more sustainable management of B.C. waters. In particular, we want to enhance understanding of the tools, resources, and support networks needed to help drive and better operationalize watershed governance throughout British Columbia.

OUTCOMES

Given your expertise and particular experience regarding watershed governance, we believe you can offer a unique perspective to this work. Your insights will help us to identify and frame those issues and challenges that must addressed. Out of this project, we imagine a practical set of recommendations for a potential path forward that will enable, catalyze, and drive watershed governance across B.C. The results of this project will be helpful to all groups working on B.C. water issues. As such, we are committed to making the report publicly available. It will be widely disseminated and you will receive a copy in your inbox as soon as it is available.

x See http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561

ix See http://www.livingwatersmart.ca/

xi See http://poliswaterproject.org/watersheds2014

The questions below are intended to guide our scheduled interview, which will take about one hour to complete. More information about the project and how your input will be used will be provided at the start of the interview.

QUESTIONS:

- **1. Watershed Governance:** What are the defining features of watershed governance? Why is it important? Do you think B.C. is ready for this type of governance?
- 2. Collaborative Decision-Making: Watershed governance emphasizes collaboration across and within sectors and better engages citizens, First Nations, civil society, business, industry and practitioners in the goal of maintaining healthy watersheds. What are the benefits of cooperative watershed management? What are the challenges?
- **3. Identifying Issues, Gaps & Barriers:** What are 3 barriers or challenges that arise in trying to move from a vision of watershed governance to actual watershed governance boards? What would you say are the most pressing needs for groups working at the watershed level to be more effective in moving towards watershed governance? Where are the biggest resource gaps in terms of catalyzing and enabling the formation of watershed governance organizations where none currently exist?
- **4. Enabling Environment:** What mechanisms need to be put in place to address these challenges? Who needs to drive and enable watershed governance in B.C.? What concrete things could be done on a province-wide scale to catalyze and drive local watershed governance throughout the province?
- **5. Tools & Resources:** While every watershed governance initiative is necessarily place-based and shaped by its local context, can you think of any tools, resources, or networks provincially that could be developed that could help local initiatives? What are the top 2-3 tools/resources you think would help right now in your region (either locally or provincially developed)?
- **6. Institutional Capacity:** Does the institutional capacity currently exist to enable and catalyze watershed governance across the province? If yes, which organizations are able to take that on and what role can they play? If no, what type of organization would be needed to catalyze watershed governance? What role would it play? What features would it have?
- **7.5 Year Vision:** Where do you think B.C. needs to be in 5 years to say it is a world leader in watershed governance? What needs to be in place in order for watershed governance to be successful?
- **8.** *Water Sustainability Act*: What role do you see the *Water Sustainability Act* playing in the realization of this long term vision of watershed governance?
- **9. Who else must we talk to?** What other governance models would be useful to look at?

REFERENCES

- 1. Brandes, O.M., Carr-Wilson, S., Curran, D. and Simms, R. (2015, November). Awash with *Opportunity: Ensuring the Sustainability of British Columbia's New Water Law.* Victoria, B.C.: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance.
- 2. Morris, T., & Brandes, O.M. (2013, July). *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia: A Waterscape Scan & Needs Assessment of B.C. Watershed-Based Groups*. Victoria/Vancouver, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance at the University of Victoria & Real Estate Foundation of British Columbia. Retrieved from http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561; this detailed analysis was completed by POLIS in partnership with the Real Estate Foundation of British Columbia in anticipation of the Watersheds 2014 forum.
- 3. Pynn, L. (2015, September 17). Competition for precious water in drought-stricken Nicola Valley. *The Vancouver Sun*; Leighton, B. (2015, July 4). Heat wave forces burning ban, fishing closures as B.C. copes with drought. *The Province*; Campbell River Mirror. (2015, June 23). Record low flow forces down dam discharge. *Campbell River Mirror*; B.C. River Forecast Centre (2015, June 22). Low Stream-flow Advisory Vancouver Island. Retrieved from: http://bcrfc. env.gov.bc.ca/lowflow/advisories/lsa01.htm; Sieniuc, K. (2015, July 29). First Nations Tribal Council Suspends Okanagan Sockeye Salmon Fishery. *The Globe and Mail*.
- 4. Armstrong, J. (2006, September 16). Paradise Parched. *The Globe and Mail*. Retrieved from: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/paradise-parched/article18169052/
- The Canadian Press. (2012, October 7). B.C.'s Cowichan River in Danger of Drying Up. CBC News British Columbia. Retrieved from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/b-cs-cowichan-river-in-danger-of-drying-up-1.1256924
- 6. The Vancouver Province. (2009, July 12). Uncapped wells a water threat. *Canada.com*. Retrieved from: http://www.canada.com/story.html?id=972408f4-81ff-44d6-a2a3-4aaf8c21c863
- Ryan, D. (2014, August 4). Mount Polley Mine's tailings pond breach of five million cubic metres of contaminated waste called 'massive environmental disaster.' *National Post*. Retrieved from: http://news.nationalpost.com/news/canada/mount-polley-mines-tailings-pond-breachof-five-million-cubic-metres-of-contaminated-waste-called-massive-environmental-disaster
- 8. St. Denis, J. (2015, June 23). Water worries rising for businesses in B.C. *Business Vancouver*. Retrieved from: https://www.biv.com/article/2015/6/water-worries-rising-businesses-bc/
- 9. For further details on the WSA, see Brandes, O.M., O'Riordan, J., O'Riordan, T., & Brandes, L. (2014, January). A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Retrieved from http:// poliswaterproject.org/blueprint; Brandes, O.M., & O'Riordan, J. (2014, August). Decision-Makers' Brief: A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Retrieved from http:// poliswaterproject.org/publication/760; and Curran, D. (2014, May). British Columbia's New Water Sustainability Act—Waiting for the Details. Victoria, Canada: Environmental Law Centre at the University of Victoria. Retrieved from http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/655. For an in-depth analysis and recommendations associated with the regulations development of the WSA, see Brandes, O. M., Carr-Wilson, S., Curran, D., Simms, R. (2015, November). Awash with Opportunity: Ensuring the Sustainability of British Columbia's New Water Law. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria.
- 10. For example, see Archibald, R., Eastman, D., Ellis, R., & Nyberg, B. (2012). Trends in Renewable Resource Management in BC. *Journal of Ecosystems & Management*, 14(3), 1–10.
- 11. A number of recent publications focus on the opportunities and challenges related to the collaborative governance model. See the following: Ansell, C., & Gash, A. (2007). Collaborative Governance in Theory and Practice. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 18(4), 543–571; de Loë, R.C., Murray, D. (2012). *Governance for Source Water Protection in Canada: Synthesis Report*. Water Policy and Governance Group. Waterloo, Ontario: University of Waterloo. Retrieved from: http://www.governanceforwater.ca/publications/79; Emerson, K., Nabatchi, T., & Balogh, S. (2011). An Integrative Framework for Collaborative Governance. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 22(1), 1–29; Fraser Basin Council. (2011). Rethinking Our Water Ways: A guide to water and watershed planning for BC communities in the face of climate change and other challenges. Retrieved from:

http://www.rethinkingwater.ca/_Library/docs/FBC_WaterGuide_FINAL.pdf; National Round Table on the Economy and the Environment. (2010). *Changing Currents: Water sustainability and the future of Canada's natural resource sectors*. Retrieved from: http://nrt-trn.ca/water/ water-sustainability-and-the-future-of-canadas-natural-resource- sectors-2/changing-currents; Taylor, P., Simpson, H. C., & Loë, R. C. De. (2015). Simpson, H.C., & de Loë, R.C. (2014). A collaborative approach to groundwater protection: the Rural Water Quality Program for Waterloo Region. *Canadian Water Resources Journal*. 39(2): 228-239.

- See Morris, T. & Brandes, O.M. (2013, July). *The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia*. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance and B.C. Real Estate Foundation. Available online: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561
- Brandes, O.M., O'Riordan, J., O'Riordan, T., & Brandes, L. (2014, January). A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia. Victoria, Canada: POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Retrieved from http://poliswaterproject.org/blueprint

APPENDIX TABLE REFERENCES

- 1. Brandes, O.M. (2005). At a Watershed: Ecological Governance and Sustainable Water Management in Canada. *Journal of Environmental Law and Practice*, 16(1), 79–97.
- Nowlan, L., & Bakker, K. (2007). Delegated Water Governance: Issues and Challenges in B.C. UBC Program on Water Governance. Retrieved from: https://watergovernance.ca/ publications/
- 3. B.C. Ministry of Environment. (2008). *Living Water Smart Policy*. Retrieved from: http://www.livingwatersmart.ca/book/
- Fraser Basin Council. Collaborative Watershed Governance Workshop Series. B.C. Water Governance Project. Retrieved from: http://www.fraserbasin.bc.ca/water_other_work. html
- 5. The Conference Board of Canada. (2008). Going with the Flow? Evolving Water Allocations and the Potential and Limits of Water Markets in Canada. Retrieved from: http:// poliswaterproject.org/sites/default/files/09_going_w_flow_1.pdf
- Province of British Columbia. (2009). British Columbia's Water Act Modernization: Discussion Paper. Retrieved from: http://www.livingwatersmart.ca/water-act/docs/wam_ discussion_paper.pdf
- Brandes, O.M., & Curran, D. (2009). Setting a New Course in British Columbia—Water Governance Reform Options and Opportunities: Discussion Paper. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance. Retrieved from: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/272
- Council of Canadian Academies. (2009). The Sustainable Management of Groundwater in Canada: The Expert Panel on Groundwater. Retrieved from: http://www.scienceadvice. ca/uploads/eng/assessments%20and%20publications%20and%20news%20releases/ groundwater/(2009-05-11)%20gw%20report.pdf
- Office of the Auditor General of British Columbia. (2010). An Audit of the Management of Groundwater Resources in British Columbia. Retrieved from: http://www.bcauditor.com/ pubs/2010/report8/audit-management-groundwater-resources-british-columbia
- 10. B.C. Assembly of First Nations. (2011). *Governance Toolkit: Section 3.31: Water.* Retrieved from: http://www.bcafn.ca/toolkit/governance-bcafn-governance-tool-3.31.php
- 11. Centre for Indigenous Environmental Resources. (2011). First Nations Integrated Watershed Planning Guidebooks. Retrieved from: http://www.yourcier.org
- 12. WWF-Canada. (2011). *Canada's Rivers At Risk: Environmental Flows and Canada's Freshwater Future*. Retrieved from: http://assets.wwf.ca/downloads/canadas_rivers_at_risk.pdf
- Sandford, B. (2011). Climate Change Adaptation and Water Governance. Simon Fraser University (Adaptation to Climate Change). Retrieved from: http://act-adapt.org/wpcontent/uploads/2011/06/09-11-Water-Background-Report-WEB.pdf
- 14. B.C. Ministry of the Environment, Fraser Basin Council, Living Lakes Canada, Okanagan Basin Water Board, The POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, The Summit Group, Water, Policy and Governance Group, & Wildsight. (2012). A Water Gathering: Collaborative Watershed Governance in B.C. and Beyond—Solutions Forum. Vancouver, B.C. Retrieved from: http://poliswaterproject.org/story/448

- 15. Fraser Basin Council. (2012). A Collaborative Watershed Governance Accord for B.C. Retrieved from: http://www.fraserbasin.bc.ca/_Library/Water/water_cwg_accord_draft.pdf
- 16. Assembly of First Nations. (2012). *National First Nations Water Rights Strategy*. Retrieved from: http://www.afn.ca/uploads/files/water/firstnationswaterstrategy.pdf
- 17. Province of British Columbia. (2013). *A Water Sustainability Act for B.C. Legislative Proposal.* Retrieved from: http://engage.gov.bc.ca/watersustainabilityact/files/2013/10/WSA_ legislative-proposal_web-doc.pdf
- Morris, T. & Brandes, O.M. (2013). The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance & B.C. Real Estate Foundation. Retrieved from: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561
- Wilson, P. (2013). The Blue Paper: Water Co-Governance in Canada. For the Forum for Leadership on Water. Retrieved from: http://www.flowcanada.org/sites/default/files/ documents/FLOW%20Co-governance%20Paper%20FINAL%20formatted%20May%20 2014.pdf
- Brandes, O.M., & O'Riordan, J., with O'Riordan, T., & Brandes, L. (2014, January). *A Blueprint for Watershed Governance in British Columbia*. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, University of Victoria. Retrieved from: http://poliswaterproject.org/blueprint
- 21. First Nations Fisheries Council. (2014). W*ater for Fish Brochure*. Retrieved from: http://www.fnfisheriescouncil.ca/downloads/water-framework-brochure.pdf
- 22. Forest Practices Board. (2014). Community Watersheds: from Objectives to Results on the Ground. Retrieved from: https://www.bcfpb.ca/reports-publications/reports/community-watersheds-objectives-results-ground/
- 23. Canadian Freshwater Alliance (2014). Living Waters Rally and Statement for Freshwater Protection. Retrieved from: https://www.freshwateralliance.ca/en/news/making-statement-freshwater-protection
- 24. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance, Cowichan Tribes, Cowichan Watershed Board, Cowichan Valley Regional District, University of Victoria's Department of Geography, and Brock University's Environmental Sustainability Research Centre. (2014). Watersheds 2014: Towards Watershed Governance in B.C. and Beyond. Duncan, B.C. Conference proceedings and materials available online: http://poliswaterproject.org/watersheds2014
- 25. Christensen, R. & Brandes, O.M. (2015, June). *California's Oranges and B.C.'s Apples? Lessons for B.C. from California Groundwater Reform.* POLIS Project on Ecological Governance & Ecojustice. Retrieved from: *http://poliswaterproject.org/orangesapples*
- 26. Fraser Basin Council & The B.C. Wildlife Federation Project. (2013-2015). Advancing Watershed Sustainability in B.C. Retrieved from: http://www.fraserbasin.bc.ca/BCWF_ Watersheds_Project.html
- 27. Morris, T., & Brandes, O.M. (2013, July). The State of the Water Movement in British Columbia: A Waterscape Scan & Needs Assessment of B.C. Watershed-Based Groups. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance at the University of Victoria & Real Estate Foundation of British Columbia. Retrieved from: http://poliswaterproject.org/publication/561

POLIS Project on Ecological Governance

Created in 2000, the POLIS Project on Ecological Governance is a research-based organization that is part of the Centre for Global Studies at the University of Victoria. Researchers who are also community activists work to make ecological thinking and practice a core value in all aspects of society and dismantle the notion that the environment is merely another sector. Among the many research centres investigating and promoting sustainability worldwide, POLIS represents a unique blend of multidisciplinary academic research and community action. **polisproject.org**

POLIS Water Sustainability Project

The POLIS Water Sustainability Project (WSP) is an action-based research group that recognizes water scarcity is a social dilemma that cannot be addressed by technical solutions alone. The project focuses on four themes crucial to a sustainable water future:

- Water Conservation and the Water Soft Path;
- The Water-Energy Nexus;
- Watershed Governance; and
- Water Law and Policy.

The WSP works with industry, government, civil society, environmental not-for-profits, and individuals to develop and embed water conservation strategies that benefit the economy, communities, and the environment. The WSP is an initiative of the POLIS Project on Ecological Governance at the Centre for Global Studies, University of Victoria. **poliswaterproject.org**



POLIS Project Ecological Governance University of Victoria

POLIS Project on Ecological Governance watersustainabilityproject



